# Finding the Others Like Me: Facebook Use and Invisible Minorities' Satisfaction With Social Support

by

**Emily Beth Kerzin** 

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate Faculty of
Auburn University
in partial fulfillment of the
requirements for the Degree of
Counseling Psychology, Doctor of Philosophy

Auburn, Alabama August 6, 2016

Copyright 2016 by Emily Kerzin

Approved by

Annette Kluck, Chair, Associate Professor of Special Education, Rehabilitation, and Counseling Clarissa Arms-Chavez, Assistant Professor of Psychology Emily Friedman, Associate Professor of English Randolph Pipes, Professor of Special Education, Rehabilitation, and Counseling

#### Abstract

In the face of oppression, stigmatized minority individuals demonstrate strategies of resilience such as affiliation with a group of similar others for support and connection. Invisible minorities, however, may have difficulty finding similar others because of the lack of visibility of their identities and so may not benefit from the stress-buffering effects of group membership and connection that visible minority groups often enjoy. Online social networking sites could provide access for individuals who identify as invisible minorities to connect to similar others so that they might gain connection, support, and information. The purpose of this research was to explore the relationship between use of Facebook to connect with similar others and satisfaction with social support for individuals identifying with a variety of invisible minority groups using hierarchical regression. Participants included 242 individuals who identified with one or more of a variety of invisible minority identities. Results did not support a significant relationship between use of Facebook to connect with similar others and satisfaction with social support, but did show a relationship between general social support and satisfaction with social support. Additionally, results did not show that factors such as outness, self-esteem, depression, or anxiety, moderated the relationship between use of Facebook to connect with similar others and satisfaction with social support, however, significant relationships between self-esteem, depression, and anxiety with satisfaction with social support were found. Finally, results indicated that engagement in initiating and information-seeking behavior on Facebook with similar others was associated with Facebook bridging social capital.

## Acknowledgements

My interest in studying social support is quite personal. The emotional, financial, and intellectual support and stimulation I receive from friends, family, and mentors is my breakfast, lunch, and dinner. I am more proud of these relationships than any other academic or professional pursuit. It is through conversations and experiences with my community offline and online that the seed that eventually would grow to become the basis of this project was planted.

Thank you to the people and curriculum that make up the Social and Analysis Program at NYU for politicizing me, and sparking my interest in studying oppression, marginality, and resilience. Thank you to Renee for thoughtfully sharing that article you read about loneliness. Thank you to Ilona, Janell, and New York City for teaching me about how fun and heart-wrenching it can be to be queer. Thank you to Ashley for connecting with me on Facebook and starting a friendship that would last and last. Thank you to Leigh for helping me to get my numbers straight. Thank you to my interdisciplinary dissertation committee, Dr. Pipes, Dr. Arms-Chavez, Dr. Friedman, and Dr. Gaetano who engaged with my ideas and writing with such care and curiosity. Thank you to Dr. Kluck for working so hard to help make this project happen and lending areas of strength in my weak spots. Thank you to the greatest cohort to grace this earth, "Oh thank heaven for 2011" for the fiercest laughter and comradery I have ever seen. I will always remember that rainy night by the fire. Thank you to Dawn and Glenn for loving me like your own daughter and letting me beat you at cards. Thank you to mom, dad, Dylan, DD, Max, Chico, and Harpo for giving me life, raising me to care about justice, loving me more than

all the stars, and allowing me to be a teenager once in a while. Thank you to Ben, my partner—without his mind or heart I would not do what I do or be who I am. Finally, so much gratitude to the invisible minority identified people who participated in my research. I am so grateful for the time and energy you contributed to help me. I hope that I can pay some of it back with my research, clinical work, and advocacy.

# Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgments	iii
List of Tables	ix
Chapter 1. Introduction	1
Theoretical Framework and Purpose	4
Significance to Counseling Psychology	6
Operational Definitions	6
Hypotheses	9
Research Questions	11
Chapter 2. Literature Review	15
Invisible Minorities	15
The Effects of Stigma on Minority Groups	16
A Taxonomy of Stigmas	18
Social Implications for Invisible Minorities	20
Effects of Disclosure and Non-disclosure	21
Social Support	25
Cohesion, Belongingness, and Support in Minority Groups	30
Relationship Between Facebook and Social Support and Social Capital	32

The Internet and Social Networking Sites for Marginalized Groups	37
Summary	39
Chapter 3. Method	42
Design	42
Participants and Sample Characteristics	43
Procedure	44
Overview	44
Accessing and Completing the Study	45
Screening participants	45
Completion of the study	46
Measures	46
Connection Strategies	46
The Social Support Questionnaire	48
Nebraska Outness Scale	49
The Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale	51
Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale-Revised	51
The Penn State Worry Questionnaire	52
The Internet Social Capital Scales	54
Inventory of Socially Supportive Behaviors Short Form	54
Facebook Intensity	54
Statistical Analysis	55
Chapter 3. Results	65
Descriptives and Testing of Assumptions	65

	Connection With Similar Others on Facebook and Satisfaction with Social Support	66
	Connection With Similar Others on Facebook as a Function of Outness on Satisfaction With Social Support	66
	Connection With Similar Others on Facebook as a Function of Self-Esteem on Satisfaction With Social Support	67
	Connection With Similar Others on Facebook as a Function of Depression on Satisfaction With Social Support	68
	Connection With Similar Others on Facebook as a Function of Anxiety on Satisfaction With Social Support	69
	Engagement in Initiating Behavior With Similar Others on Facebook and Facebook Bridging and Bonding Social Capital	69
	Engagement in Information-Seeking Behavior With Similar Others on Facebook and Facebook Bridging and Bonding Social Capital	
	Engagement in Maintaining Behavior With Similar Others on Facebook and Facebook Bridging and Bonding Social Capital	71
	Additional Questions	72
Chapt	er 5. Discussion	90
	Overview	90
	Summary off Findings	90
	Connection with similar others on Facebook and satisfaction with social support	90
	Moderating factors on the relationship between connection with similar others on Facebook and satisfaction with social support	91
	Type of Facebook behavior and Facebook bridging and bonding social capital	93
	Additional questions	96
	Limitations	96
	Practice Implications	99

Implications for Future Research	102
References	105
Appendix A. Informational Letter to Enable Informed Consent	122
Appendix B. Facebook Post	123
Appendix C. Demographic Form	124

# List of Tables

Table 1 Invisible Minority Status Endorsement of Sample
Table 2 Frequency of the Number of Participants With Overlapping Endorsement of Invisible Minority Status
Table 3 Demographic Characteristics of Sample
Table 4 Descriptive Statistics
Table 5 Reliability for Scales in Current Study Compared to Established Reliability7
Table 6 Correlation Matrix
Table 7 Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Moderating Effect of Connection With Similar Others on Facebook by Outness in Predicting Social Support Satisfaction
Table 8 Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Moderating Effect of Connection With Similar Others on Facebook by Self-Esteem in Predicting Social Support Satisfaction
Table 9 Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Moderating Effect of Connection With Similar Others on Facebook by Depression in Predicting Social Support Satisfaction
Table 10 Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Moderating Effect of Connection With Similar Others on Facebook by Anxiety in Predicting Social Support Satisfaction
Table 11 Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Initiating Behavior With Similar Others on Facebook in Predicting Facebook Bridging Social Capital
Table 12 Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Initiating Behavior With Similar Others on Facebook in Predicting Facebook Bonding Social Capital
Table 13 Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Information-Seeking Behavior With Similar Others on Facebook in Predicting Facebook Bridging Social Capital
Table 14 Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Information-Seeking Behavior With Similar Others on Facebook in Predicting Facebook Bonding Social Capital
Table 15 Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Maintaining Behavior With Similar Others on Facebook in Predicting Facebook Bridging Social Capital

Table 16 Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Maintaining Behavior With Similar Others of Facebook in Predicting Facebook Bonding Social Capital	
Table 17 Descriptive Statistics of Additional Questions	88
Table 18 Correlations Between Additional Questions and Other Variables	89

#### I. Introduction

Growing research shows the extent to which people from stigmatized minority groups are negatively affected by discrimination and oppression (Crocker & Major, 1989; Meyer 2003, 2007). Models such as minority stress theory demonstrate how stigmatized minority members endure chronic stress that is unique and additive to the stress that majority populations experience as a result of socially based oppression emergent in social interactions, institutions, and structures (Meyer, 2003). In addition to exploring the detrimental aspects of oppression, research has also looked at past and present ingenuity and future potential for stigmatized minority groups to develop community and connection as a form of survival and resilience (Allport, 1953; Case & Hunter, 2012; Crocker & Major, 1989; Goffman, 1963; Jetten, Branscombe, Schmitt, & Spears, 2001).

Membership into a group and a sense of belongingness is essential for psychological well-being (Allport, 1953; Berkman, 2001; Brewer, 1991). This sense of belongingness is established through involvement in weak and close social interactions in a person's community (Berkman, 2001). Individuals from stigmatized minority groups, like all people, need to find similar others to feel understood and supported, perhaps even more so because of the unique stressors they face (Allport, 1953; Crocker & Major, 1989; Goffman, 1963; Jetten, Branscombe, Schmitt, & Spears, 2001). Stronger affiliations in a minority community and social support may buffer the impact of increased exposure to minority stress (Crocker & Major, 1989; Branscombe et al., 1999b; Brown et al., 1999). Joining a group of similar others can lead to feeling less alone and different, disclosing a secret part of oneself, sharing one's own experience and learning from those of others, and gaining emotional and motivational support (McKenna & Bargh, 1998).

This burgeoning understanding of the dynamics of oppression and resilience for

stigmatized minority groups, however, does not extend to stigmatized minority individuals whose minority status is invisible (Quinn & Chaudoir, 2009). Particularly absent is the study of how invisible minorities utilize connection and social support with similar others to buffer against minority stress, which is seen in visible minority groups. This absence of understanding is problematic because group identification for stigmatized minorities can relate to greater sense of well-being and protection from depression and other psychological concerns (Berkman, 2001; Goffman, 1963; Jetten, Branscombe, Schmitt, & Spears, 2001), as well as buffering from minority stress (Crocker & Major, 1989; Branscombe et al., 1999b; Brown et al., 1999).

Beyond minority groups exclusively, the social support literature makes several distinctions between type of support, who provides it, and when and how it is provided, but overall concludes an association of adequate social support with better physical, emotional, and mental health outcomes (Cohen & Wills, 1985; Gove & Geerken, 1977). Social capital and social support describe the resources and emotional, informational, and financial care a person can access through fluid connections with one's community (Bourdieu, 1985; Bourdieu & Wacquant, 1992; Coleman, 1988; Steinfield, Ellison, & Lampe, 2008). The term "social capital" may be utilized more by sociologists and political scientists, while psychologists tend to refer to the construct as "social support" (Burke, Kraut, & Marlow, 2011). Social support is thought to safeguard people from life stresses and lead to better physiological and psychological outcomes (Cohen & Wills, 1985; Thoits, 2011; Umberson & Montez, 2010).

Unfortunately, isolation and difficulty accessing social support is a common experience reported by invisible minorities (Frable et al., 1998). This isolation occurs for several reasons, including difficulty identifying similar others due to the invisibility of the stigma (Scotch, 1988; Webbick, 1981) as well as the risk involved with affiliation as it makes individuals more visible

and thus, more vulnerable to stigmatization (Scotch, 1988). Although concealment of one's minority status might yield rewards and protect one from discrimination, the process of concealment can be draining and stressful as it requires a great deal of cognitive and emotional energy (Frable, Platt, & Hoey, 1998; Goffman, 1963; Meyer, 2007; Pachankis, 2007; Smart & Wegner, 1999, 2000).

The internet and social networking sites such as Facebook offer a potential space for invisible minorities to access connection and social support. Anonymity (Crowson & Goulding, 2013; Morahan-Martin & Schumacher, 2003), privacy (Morahan-Martin & Schumacher, 2003), and opportunity for experimentation (DeHaan, Kuper, Magee, Bigelow, & Mustanski, 2013), as well as access to information and resources lacking or inaccessible offline (DeHaan et al., 2013; Mustanski, Lyons, & Garcia, 2011), are qualities of the internet and social networking sites that support the potential for such digital space to be a site for connection and resilience for invisible minorities. In fact, studies indicate that minority groups such as the LGBTQ community and racial and ethnic minorities such as African American, Latino, and Asian American college students utilize the internet and social networking sites more than majority populations for identity formation, information exchange, and connection with similar others (Correa & Jeong, 2011; DeHaan et al., 2013). Although there is research to suggest that individuals who identify with minority groups may use social networking to connect more with similar others, it is unclear what effect the extent to which a person is out (makes known the minority status) affects the potential benefit of use of social networking on well-being.

Studies that examine the mental health and well-being implications of Facebook use and the internet continue to show mixed results. Perhaps this is because what matters most is not the amount of Facebook use, but the type of use and the well-being of the user. Factors such as type

of use and the self-esteem, anxiety, and depression levels of the user have indeed shown to be moderating factors in determining the potential benefits or harms of Facebook (Burke et al., 2010; Burke, Kraut, & Marlow, 2011; Ellison, Steinfield, & Lampe, 2007; Grieve et al., 2013; Tandoc, Ferrucci, & Duffy, 2015).

Furthermore, it could be that the potential benefits of Facebook to invisible minority individuals is limited to those who are already skilled at accessing support across environments, offline as well as online (Kraut et al., 2002; Sheldon, 2008; Zywica & Danowski, 2008). In this case, finding a positive relationship between Facebook use and well-being among invisible minorities would simply be a product of the extent to which certain individuals are generally able to access support. Therefore, in the study of potential benefits of Facebook use for invisible minorities, general social support is a confound that can obscure attempts to understand the specific role that Facebook use to connect with similar others plays in the well-being of invisible minorities. Similarly, given some research raising concerns about negative effects of Facebook and general internet use (Kraut et al., 2002; Shen & Williams, 2011), the amount of time and energy one spends on Facebook in general, not specifically with similar others, may be a confound when trying to understand how Facebook could be beneficial for well-being. These confounds will be controlled to develop a clearer perspective of how Facebook use with similar others for invisible minorities might predict satisfaction with social support above and beyond general support and general Facebook use.

## **Theoretical Framework and Purpose**

Research on oppression and resilience shows that in the face of marginalization and stigmatization, people strive to maintain well-being through individual and community or "contextual" coping strategies (Case & Hunter, 2012). Individual coping strategies, termed

"adaptive responding" might include confrontation, minimization, and avoidance, while contextual strategies might consist of support networks or collective action (Case & Hunter, 2012). Case and Hunter (2012) advocate examining these communal strategies of resistance using a "counterspace" framework of analysis. "Counterspaces can be thought of as settings, which promote positive self-concepts among marginalized individuals (e.g., racial and sexual minority individuals, persons with disabilities, etc.) through the challenging of deficit-oriented dominant cultural narratives and representations concerning these individuals" (Case & Hunter, 2012, p. 261). Individuals who are out about their invisible minority status may be more readily able to create and join counterspaces (Corrigan & Matthews, 2003; Meyer, 2003). However, for individuals who are not out, physical offline counterspaces may not be an option and the use of social media may provide an alternative way for them to access the benefits discussed by Case and Hunter.

The support and resilience of counterspaces are generated and delivered through "narrative identity work," "acts of resistance," and "direct relational transactions" (Case & Hunter, 2012). Counterspaces can be created explicitly, such as youth development programs or community centers, or more implicitly (Case & Hunter, 2012). Although narrative identity work and acts of resistance might come out of relational transactions or vice versa, the focus of this dissertation is looking at the relational potential of social networking sites, namely, the potential of Facebook to serve as an implicit counterspace, where support is delivered informally to invisible minority individuals. This informal method may be particularly important for this group of individuals due to the previously discussed difficulty in locating similar others. This purpose is in line with Case and Hunter's (2012) vision for utilizing counterspaces as a unit of analysis: to develop a "nuanced understanding of the indigenous ways in which marginalized individuals

respond to oppression in order to promote their own well-being," which Case and Hunter suggest "can result in systematic ways to support and enhance those responses" (p. 267). Additionally, this dissertation's scope of study, examining the experience across a broad range of groups instead of comparing groups, supported an intersectional form of analysis where oppression, privilege, and identity were viewed as multilayered, complex, and dynamic.

## **Significance to Counseling Psychology**

This dissertation explored the potential of Facebook as a site for invisible minorities to connect and feel socially supported. Furthermore, this study examined how factors such as one's outness, self-esteem, depression, and anxiety might have changed the relationship between invisible minorities' use of Facebook and satisfaction with social support. This knowledge will ideally enhance researchers', educators', program administrators', and psychotherapists' understanding of how to support and develop interventions that benefit the well-being and resilience of invisible minority individuals and communities. Specifically, such interventions would be focused on the potential of Facebook use as a protective factor against minority stress and isolation. Additionally and more broadly, this dissertation aimed to enhance the field's understanding of the lived experience of a group of understudied people – invisible minorities.

## **Operational Definitions**

Invisible minority: One can be classified as an invisible minority if that person possesses a quality, identity, or experience that is or can be hidden and carries social devaluation (Crocker, Major, & Steele, 1998). There are many terms to describe this status, but the language used in this study is primarily invisible minority or a person who has an invisible minority identity. In this study an invisible minority included someone who holds one or more of the following statuses or identities: subscribing to a non-dominant religious belief (as defined by those that fall

outside of Christian affiliated religions or sects including atheists and agnostics), possessing an invisible disability, mental illness, or chronic illness or condition such as epilepsy or HIV/AIDS, possessing a disability such as deafness or a learning disability, being infertile, lesbian, gay, bisexual, queer, asexual, non-heterosexual identified, transgender, gender-nonconforming/genderqueer, a person of color who can pass as white, or belonging to a lower socioeconomic or working poor background.

Similar other: A person with the same or similar invisible minority status (listed above) as someone else.

Outness: Meidlinger and Hope (2014) define outness as "openness about one's sexual orientation" (p. 489). In this study, the concept was extended to describe openness about one's invisible minority identity for all studied invisible minority groups. Outness was a concept of interest because it is a "crucial construct in understanding the interplay between the factors composing minority stress" (Meidlinger & Hope, 2014, p. 489). In this study, outness was measured by scores on a revised version of the Nebraska Outness Scale (Meidlinger & Hope, 2014).

Social Capital/Support: Social capital or support refers to the resources and emotional, informational, and financial care a person can access through fluid connections with one's community (Bourdieu, 1985; Bourdieu and Wacquant, 1992; Coleman, 1988; Steinfield, Ellison, & Lampe, 2008). In this study, general social support, which refers to objective or actual available social support, was measured by the Inventory of Socially Supportive Behaviors (ISSB) Short Form (Barrera, 1990). Satisfaction with social support, which describes the perceived fulfillment and adequacy of available social support, was measured by a revised version of the Social Support Questionnaire (Sarason et al., 1983).

Bridging social capital: Support garnered through more distant and infrequent connections to others that generally do not provide emotional support but do offer informational support and advice or perspective (Granovetter, 1973; Kraut et al., 1998). A revised version of the Internet Social Capital Scales (Williams, 2006) was used to measure Facebook Bridging social capital. Bonding social capital: Support from closer and more intimate relationships which generally involve specific reciprocity, emotional support, and companionship (Wellman & Wortley, 1990). A revised version of the Internet Social Capital Scales (Williams, 2006) was used to measure Facebook Bonding social capital.

Facebook initiating behaviors: Actions that reflect use of Facebook to meet new people such as browsing their profiles, contacting them using Facebook, adding them as a Facebook Friend, or meeting them face-to-face (Ellison et al., 2007). In this study, a revised version of the Initiating subscale from the Connection Strategies measure (Ellison et al., 2011), was used to measure Facebook initiating behavior with similar others.

Facebook information-seeking behaviors: Actions that reflect use of Facebook to learn more about acquaintances such as browsing their profiles, contacting them using Facebook, adding them as a Facebook Friend, or meeting them face-to-face (Ellison et al., 2007). In this study, a revised version of the Information-seeking subscale from the Connection Strategies measure (Ellison et al., 2011), was used to measure Facebook initiating behavior with similar others.

Facebook maintaining behaviors: Actions that reflect use of Facebook to strengthen ties with existing close friends browsing their profiles, contacting them using Facebook, adding them as a Facebook Friend, or meeting them face-to-face (Ellison et al., 2007). In this study, a revised version of the Maintaining subscale from the Connection Strategies measure (Ellison et al., 2011), was used to measure Facebook initiating behavior with similar others.

## **Hypotheses:**

**Hypothesis 1:** Greater use of Facebook to connect with similar others will predict higher satisfaction with social support after controlling for level of general social support and intensity of general Facebook use.

Aspects of the internet and social networking sites make for a more conducive space for invisible minorities to consider experimenting with disclosure and connecting with similar others to exchange information and support (Crowson et al., 2013; DeHaan, Kuper, Magee, Bigelow, & Mustanski, 2013; Morahan-Martin & Schumacher, 2003). For sexual minorities, behaviors such as cautiously and thoughtfully disclosing to others and participating in online message groups have been linked to increased self-acceptance, and in turn, higher likelihood of coming out to additional family and friends (Pachankis, 2007). Other benefits associated with disclosure (which may be safer to do online versus offline) include a sense of relief and renewed energy (Clair et al., 2005; Woods, 1994), increased self-esteem (Corrigan & Matthews, 2003), and the ability to identify and affiliate with similar others and foster closer stress-buffering interpersonal relationships (Corrigan & Matthews, 2003; Meyer, 2003). The relationships people form when they can affiliate with similar others are stress-buffering because they can decrease individual's subjective sense of isolation, foster a positive attitude about group membership, and teach one how to negotiate difficult interpersonal situations based on the stigma (Quinn & Chaudoir, 2009). In fact, the type of support that many invisible minorities would benefit from, such as being provided with a role model, information about how to navigate an issue, and empathic understanding, is most effective when it comes from one's secondary support group, which describes many online relationships

(Thoits, 2011). Therefore, it is likely that for invisible minority individuals, using Facebook to connect with similar others would relate to greater satisfaction with social support. Furthermore, level of general social support was controlled in order to rule out variance related to skill at accessing support across environments, offline and online, as well as variance related to time and energy spent on Facebook, in general, rather than Facebook use specifically with similar others.

**Hypothesis 2:** Degree of outness will moderate the relationship between the extent one uses Facebook to connect with similar others and satisfaction with social support controlling for level of general social support and intensity of general Facebook use. Specifically, it is hypothesized that less outness will be associated with a stronger relationship between extent of Facebook use to connect with similar others and satisfaction with social support.

Invisible minorities who are "closeted" endure more stress associated with the cognitive and emotional energy involved in concealment (Frable, Platt, & Hoey, 1998; Goffman, 1963; Meyer, 2007; Pachankis, 2007; Smart & Wegner, 1999, 2000) and are less able to connect with similar others to gain support, strength, and helpful resources and information (Beatty & Kirby, 2004; Frable et al., 1998; McKenna & Bargh, 1998; Pachankis, 2007; Ragins, 2008). Closeted invisible minority individuals likely have relationships that are plagued by disconnection and a lack of closeness because they are hiding a key aspect of themselves in such relationships (Goffman, 1963; Herek, 1996; Pachankis, 2007; Ragins, 2008). Therefore, invisible minorities who are more closeted and less out have a greater need for a virtual network to fulfill the needs of the social system they are desperately lacking offline. It is likely then that invisible minority individuals who are less out would show a stronger relationship between Facebook use to

connect with similar others and satisfaction with social support than more out invisible minority individuals who might be able to access this support more effectively offline. Furthermore, level of general social support was controlled in order to rule out variance related to those individuals who are already skilled at accessing support across environments, offline and online, as well as variance related to time and energy spent on Facebook, in general, rather than Facebook use specifically with similar others.

## **Research Ouestions:**

**Research Question 1:** Will level of self-esteem moderate the relationship between the extent one uses Facebook to connect with similar others and satisfaction with social support controlling for level of general social support and intensity of general Facebook use?

**Research Question 2:** Will level of depression moderate the relationship between the extent one uses Facebook to connect with similar others and satisfaction with social support controlling for level of general social support and intensity of general Facebook use?

**Research Question 3:** Will level of anxiety moderate the relationship between the extent one uses Facebook to connect with similar others and satisfaction with social support controlling from level of general social support and intensity of general Facebook use?

Research shows mixed results about the relationship between Facebook and internet use and various mental health outcomes. Some studies support the "rich get richer" or "social enhancement" hypothesis where people with better social skills and higher levels of self-esteem, extroversion, and life satisfaction and lower levels of depression and anxiety benefit the most in terms of social support and social capital from the internet and social networking sites (Kraut et al., 2002; Sheldon, 2008; Zywica & Danowski, 2008). Related to the "rich get richer" hypothesis is the "poor get poorer"

hypothesis where those who have the lowest levels of life satisfaction, extroversion, and self-esteem as well as higher levels of depression and anxiety benefit the least from internet or social networking use and actually experience increased isolation, as found in Kraut et al. (2002) and Shen & Williams' (2011) work. Other studies support the "poor get richer" hypothesis, or the enhanced benefit of social networking use in expanding social capital and social support for groups that tend to have lower levels of self-esteem and life satisfaction and higher levels of mental health concerns (Bessiere et al., 2008; Burke, Kraut, & Marlow, 2011; Ellison, Steinfield, & Lampe, 2007; McKenna & Bargh, 2000; Valkenburg & Peter, 2005; Zywica & Danowski, 2008). Zywica and Danowski's (2008) work support both hypotheses.

Thus, mental health factors would likely moderate the relationship between Facebook use with similar others and satisfaction with social support because one's mental health and well-being (measured by self-esteem, anxiety, and depression in this study) would likely change the strength of the relationship between Facebook use with similar others and satisfaction with social support, or even change the direction of the relationship. This means, that for someone whose mental health and well-being is more sound (higher self-esteem and lower depression and anxiety), Facebook use with similar others might play a different role than for someone whose well-being and mental health are less sound (lower self-esteem and higher depression and anxiety). Specifically, the relationship between Facebook use with similar others and satisfaction with social support might be stronger for those with lower self-esteem and higher anxiety and depression because Facebook is providing a much-needed platform for social connection that is difficult to access elsewhere. Or, conversely, the relationship could be stronger for

those with higher self-esteem and lower anxiety and depression because those who are already stable and well-adjusted utilize Facebook as a springboard to further access fulfilling social support. Therefore, mental health factors such as self-esteem, depression, and anxiety likely would affect the relationship between use of Facebook to connect with similar others and satisfaction with social support, though the direction of this effect is unknown. Furthermore, level of general social support was controlled in order to rule out variance related to those individuals who are already skilled at accessing support across environments, offline and online, as well as variance related to time and energy spent on Facebook, in general, rather than Facebook use specifically with similar others.

**Research Question 4:** Will engagement in initiating behavior with similar others on Facebook predict/relate to Facebook bridging or bonding social capital after controlling for level of general social support and intensity of general Facebook use?

**Research Question 5:** Will engagement in information-seeking behavior with similar others on Facebook predict/relate to Facebook bridging or bonding social capital after controlling for level of general social support and intensity of general Facebook use?

**Research Question 6:** Will engagement in maintaining behavior with similar others on Facebook predict/relate to Facebook bridging or bonding social capital after controlling for level of general social support and intensity of general Facebook use?

Ellison et al. (2011) found that information-seeking behavior on Facebook was the only type of Facebook connection strategy associated with bridging and bonding social capital. This might be explained by the fact that information-seeking behavior is a type of behavior that social networking sites are most conducive for; to help transform latent ties into weak ties and possibly even into strong ties (Ellison et al., 2011). Unlike

information-seeking behavior, maintaining behavior with existing close friends on Facebook might not be seen as adding to one's perception of enhanced social capital beyond what would take place offline and initiating contact with total strangers is the most uncommon Facebook connection strategy and might feel unlikely to yield any significant connection (Ellison et al., 2011). Although it is likely that Ellison et al. (2011) findings from a general population would extend to the behavior and perceptions of invisible minorities as well, it was not certain given the unique role social media use might play for invisible minorities.

#### **II. Literature Review**

## **Invisible Minorities**

Many terms are used to describe people with invisible minority identities including possessing an invisible minority status, a concealable stigma or mark, a concealable stigmatized identity, an invisible stigmatized disability, or an invisible minority identity. In this study, I will primarily use the term invisible minority status. Additionally, literature includes a vast number of identities and life experiences that might classify one as possessing an invisible minority status including religious beliefs, various types of chronic illness and conditions such as epilepsy and HIV/AIDS, disability status, mental illness, deafness, infertility, non-heterosexual sexual orientation, ambiguous racial identity, illiteracy, nonmainstream political or religious beliefs, being an adopted child or adoptive parent, unemployment status, being an immigrant having a working class background, and history of incarceration, abortion, domestic violence or sexual assault survivor, substance abuse, or other trauma (Beatty & Kirby, 2006; Cohen & Streuning, 1962; Corrigan & Penn, 1999; Crawford, 1996; Crocker, Major, & Steele, 1998; DeCecco, 1984; D'Emilio, 1983; Ellsworth, 1965; Farina, 1982; Fisher, 2003; Goffman, 1963; Herek, 1986; Itzkovitz, 2001; Jones et al., 1984; Levitt & Klassen, 1974; Major & Gramzow, 1999; March, 1995; McKenna & Bargh, 1998; McLaughlin, Bell, & Stringer, 2004; Nunnally, 1961; Pachankis, 2007; Quinn & Chaudoir, 2009; Scambler & Hopkins, 1986; Sevinc, 2010; Somer & Szwarcberg, 2001; Stone & Colella, 1996; Susman, 1994; Vickers, 1997; Weidner, 1983; Whiteford & Gonzalez, 1995). The length of this list demonstrates the breadth of people who might fall under the invisible minority category. This study aims to capture the experiences of the following invisible minority statuses or identities: following a non-dominant religious belief (as defined by those that fall outside of Christian affiliated religions or sects including atheists

and agnostics); possessing an invisible disability, mental illness, or chronic illness or condition such as epilepsy or HIV/AIDS; being infertile, lesbian, gay, bisexual, queer, asexual, non-heterosexual identified, transgender, gender-nonconforming/genderqueer, a person of color who can pass as white, or from a lower socioeconomic or working poor background.

## The Effects of Stigma on Minority Groups

Psychologist Gordon Allport (1953) famously noted "to a considerable degree all minority groups suffer from the same state of marginality, with its haunting consequences of insecurity, conflict, and irritation" (p. 38). Additionally, people from stigmatized minority groups tend to report lower levels of self-esteem, perhaps because they are stuck in self-fulfilling prophecies in which they internalize and actualize society's negative image of their group and they have less power to control and manipulate their environment as dominant groups do (Crocker & Major, 1989). The minority stress model underscores the extensiveness of stress associated with being a stigmatized minority (Meyer, 2003, 2007). The theory contends that minority stress is chronic, unique and additive to the stress that all people experience, and that it is socially based, emerging from social process, institutions, and structures (Meyer 2003, 2007). The model also distinguishes between distal stress, which includes objective, systemic and interpersonal forms of discrimination and prejudice external to an individual and proximal stress, which is subjective and internal and includes internalized hatred, depression, and anxiety about one's minority status as well as concealment of one's minority status (Meyer, 2003, 2007). What is key in this model is that minority groups are more exposed to distal stressors which intensify proximal stressors, and that this combination of chronic and extreme level of psychological stress leads to detrimental health outcomes (Meyer, 2003).

Meyer (2007) explains how minority stress goes from distal to proximal in the lives of

lesbian, gay, and bisexual (LGB) individuals in the following four steps: first, there is the presence of external objective stressful events or conditions which range from chronic to acute; second, a person develops a stance of vigilance because of the expectations of such events; third, this vigilance leads the individual to conceal his/her/their sexual orientation; and fourth, the individual internalizes negative societal messages about LGB identities. This process can be further complicated for some LGB individuals who possess multiple minority statuses (Meyer, 2007). While this theory is aimed at understanding LGB stress, it is transferable for explaining how stress might function for various invisible minority groups.

Most discrimination occurs when people recognize a visible difference and then categorize the person, which leads to stigmatization when members of the majority group hold negative beliefs, attitudes, and stereotypes towards the othered group (Crocker & Major, 1989). Additionally, these groups tend to "receive disproportionately poor interpersonal or economic outcomes relative to members of the society at large because of discrimination against members of the social category" (Crocker & Major, 1989, p. 609). The process of categorization, discrimination, and stigmatization is less understood and functions differently for invisible minorities as the identity is not easily visibly detectable or not detectable at all (Beatty & Kirby, 2006). In fact, concealable stigmas are largely understudied compared to visible stigmatized identities (Quinn & Chaudoir, 2009). Quinn and Chaudoir (2009) call for further study of invisible stigmatized identities because it is "crucial to understand how the psychological meaning of the identity works in tandem with stigma to make a person more or less vulnerable to distress" (p. 635).

## A Taxonomy of Stigmas

Although all stigmas carry a unified negative connotation, different types of stigmas are associated with more or less discrimination and stress. Goffman is a sociologist whose book, Stigma: Notes on the Management of Spoiled Identity (1963), remains one of the most cited books on stigma and includes a lengthy discussion on concealable stigmas in his seminal text. Goffman (1963) outlines three kinds of stigma: (1) "abominations of the body" (p. 13) such as physical deformities, (2) "blemishes of individual character" (p. 13) such as non-heterosexual sexuality, mental illness, or addiction, and finally (3) "tribal stigmas" (p. 13), such as race, nationality, or religion. Falk (2001) also differentiated stigmas by dividing them into two possible categories: existential versus achieved. Existential stigma includes characteristics such as race, sex, and certain disabilities, similar to Goffman's (1963) categories of "abominations of the body," and "tribal stigmas," that are seen as beyond one's control and therefore, less stigmatized (Falk, 2001). Achieved stigma, on the other hand, such as sexual orientation or HIV/AIDS status, are more similar to Goffman's (1963) "blemishes of individual character" and may yield higher levels of stigmatization because they are seen as resulting from one's behavior and thus, avoidable (Falk, 2001).

Beatty and Kirby (2006) stray from Goffman and Falk's classification and contend that it is the degree of permanency that determines how stigmatizing a characteristic is, with characteristics that are more immutable carrying more stigma. Some identity categories such as race were at one time fluid, but have become immutable (at least in the United States) due to historical events such as Jim Crow South where the "one drop rule" was implemented, dictating that a person with black ancestry was automatically considered black (Beatty & Kirby, 2006).

Other factors that might contribute to the degree of stigmatization of a characteristic can

include beliefs about the expected course of a stigma (Jones et al., 1984), time since acquisition of the stigma (Crocker & Major, 1989), and acceptance of the dominant majority's negative attitudes towards one's own stigmatized group (Crocker & Major, 1989; Quinn & Chaudoir, 2009). In terms of time, Crocker and Major (1989) contend that those who have carried a stigma for longer might suffer the consequences of stigmatization less because they have learned how to buffer against it. However, the way people's attitudes and beliefs about their stigma affect their subjective experience of stigmatization might be more complicated. Taking more responsibility for one's stigmatizing condition is associated with lower self-esteem, while incorporating one's stigma as a central part of one's self-concept is associated with higher self-esteem (Crocker & Major, 1984). This is because taking more responsibility for one's own stigma leads to a sense that one is to blame for possessing such stigma and in turn leads to lowered self-esteem. Incorporating a stigma into one's self-concept, rather than viewing it as an outside force, however, yields higher self-esteem because identifying with this stigma makes it possible to connect with others and learn more about how to buffer against the stigma (discussed further below). Quinn and Chaudoir (2009), however, found that the centrality of the stigma to one's identity, along with anticipated effects of stigma, its salience, and the degree of cultural stigmatization of the identity, all relate to greater psychological distress.

Interpersonal situational factors can also affect the degree of stigmatization a person might feel. In fact, Crocker, Major, and Steele (1998) noted that being socially devalued, in addition to being concealable, are the two key ingredients of possessing an invisible minority status. Goffman also emphasized the relational nature of stigmas, writing that we need "a language of relationships, not attributes" in discussing stigma (Goffman, 1963, p. 10). Because stigmas are relationally based, it is important to note that statuses are stigmatized depending on

social context (Ragins, 2008) and rely on the identification of a marker (Goffman, 1963; Jones et al., 1984; Sevinc, 2010). Social context determines whether the social and cultural makeup of the situation indeed renders a person stigmatized and identification of a marker occurs when a mark has been revealed or disclosed. For people with concealable stigmas, in particular, a situational factor can trigger certain cognitive, affective, behavioral, and self-esteem outcomes (Pachankis, 2007). These interpersonal situational factors include when a stigma is made salient because all or none in the social context shares the stigma, the situation challenges or calls into question one's status or identity so the stigma becomes likely to be discovered, or when the consequences of having the stigma revealed are high such as rejection, social isolation, abuse, violence, and discrimination (Pachankis, 2007).

## **Social Implications for Invisible Minorities**

Isolation is a common experience reported by people with invisible minority identities (Frable et al., 1998). Isolation occurs because the concealability of a stigma makes it difficult for invisible minorities to identify others who are like them (Scotch, 1988). In fact, invisible minorities might be around similar others but not know (Webbick, 1981). While some groups may have "stigma symbols," such as having a wheelchair or darker skin (Goffman, 1963), for better or for worse, invisible minorities do not have such built-in ways of being recognized or recognizing each other. Strategies to find similar others might include congregating in certain areas, analyzing others' reactions, or wearing symbols or clothing to signify membership (Goffman, 1963). However, even if invisible minorities are able to find similar others, affiliating with them might make them more vulnerable to stigmatization (Scotch, 1988).

The literature is mixed about how concealability affects the degree of stigmatization.

Initially, it would seem that those with invisible stigmas face less prejudice and fewer negative

interactions (Jones et al., 1984). However, people with visual stigmas are less likely to demonstrate negative self-perception patterns (Frable, Platt, & Hoey, 1998) and people with invisible stigmas are denied some of the buffers that those with conspicuous stigmas enjoy (Crocker & Major, 1989). Invisible stigmas might also be more stigmatized in certain ways because they pose more of a threat to the dominant culture and social order. Beatty and Kirby (2006) explain this threat further: "unlike the more absolute categories of race and gender, it is possible for an onlooker to adopt (voluntarily or not) the stigmatized identity. An able-bodied person could develop an illness, a person may adopt a religious identity, and a heterosexual person could become gay" (p. 37).

#### **Effects of Disclosure and Non-disclosure**

Because of this stigma, invisible minorities must weigh the costs and benefits of disclosing versus concealing in various situations, to specific people, and the degree of disclosure. Disclosure is not a binary concept (Beatty & Kirby, 2006) but more of a constant negotiation as Goffman (1963) describes: "To display or not to display; to tell or not to tell; to let on or not to let on; to lie or not to lie; and in each case, to whom, how, when, and where" (Goffman, 1963, p. 42).

A prime motivation of concealing or "passing" is to gain "the great rewards in being considered normal" (Goffman, 1963, p. 94). Concealing also helps one to escape potential rejection, loneliness, violence, or discrimination associated with being a stigmatized minority (Pachankis, 2007). Because of the significant social, psychological and physical risks involved in disclosure, it is clear why concealment is often a preferred option. In fact, those with concealable stigmas tend to be more competent in social exchanges where they believe their interaction partner does not know of their stigma (Comer & Piliavin, 1972; Farina, Gliha, Boudreau, Allen,

& Sherman, 1971).

How then do people go about concealing their invisible stigma? Several theories have been applied to discuss this negotiation process. Pachankis (2007) reviews a number of these theories that all fall under the information management theory umbrella. The first theory discussed is communication privacy management theory that focuses on interpersonal exchange after initial disclosure of sensitive information. An example given is the process of managing either concealing or disclosing one's HIV status. While communication privacy theory largely deals with the interpersonal logistical aspects of exchange, another theory discussed, strategic perception management, focuses on the psychological experience utilized when navigating interactions with others who are perceived to be nonstigmatized. Identity management is another theory that focuses on how people manage information related to their stigma in terms of their identity. A large part of identity management theory looks at how individual and contextual factors effect one's decision to disclose or conceal. Some identity management strategies often utilized by LGB employees include the counterfeiting strategies or "passing" as straight, "avoidance," evading certain questions and telling "half-truths," and finally, "integration," deciding to openly disclose one's sexual orientation (Woods, 1994).

Whichever strategy to manage information about one's concealed stigma is utilized, all of these processes require cognitive and emotional energy (Frable, Platt, & Hoey, 1998; Goffman, 1963; Meyer, 2007; Pachankis, 2007; Smart & Wegner, 1999, 2000). In addition to energy depletion, the constant attention required in information management strategies may cause people to become obsessively preoccupied with thoughts of their stigma (McKenna & Bargh, 1998; Pachankis, 2007; Smart & Wegner, 2000). Lane and Wegner (1995) describe this process as a vicious cycle where one becomes preoccupied with thoughts of the stigma in attempt to hide

it; this secrecy causes thoughts to be suppressed, suppression causes intrusions of thought, intrusion leads to increased effort to suppress and the cycle continues and intensifies (Lane & Wegner, 1995). Furthermore, despite these complex and comprehensive modes of concealment that are resource draining, ultimately people do not always have control over their disclosure process and sometimes they are outted before they are ready (Ragins, 2008). Outting can occur by being directly called out by another person or more indirectly when the person is assumed to be in the majority group and decides to correct this assumption, inevitably outting oneself (Ragins, 2008).

Another dire consequence of concealment is the inability to identify and connect with similar others to gain support, strength, helpful information, and camaraderie (Beatty & Kirby, 2004; Frable et al., 1998; McKenna & Bargh, 1998; Pachankis, 2007; Ragins, 2008).

Opportunities to find similar others are more difficult for invisible minorities than visible minorities because their stigmas are hidden. The consequences of mistakenly assuming one has found another person who shares the concealable stigma could be embarrassment or potentially danger (McKenna & Bargh, 1998). Additionally, the relationships that a person with a closeted concealed stigma might have are likely plagued by disconnection and a lack of closeness when they have to hide a part of themselves and always check their houses or bodies for signs of their stigma (Goffman, 1963; Herek, 1996; Pachankis, 2007; Ragins, 2008). This type of impression management has been linked to increased response latency, decreased eye contact, speaking in a higher pitch, displaying more hesitation, eye blinking, speech errors, and increased anxiety in interpersonal interactions (Pachankis, 2007).

Concealing one's stigma also has negative emotional and self-esteem implications.

Concealment is associated with diminished self-efficacy, a fragmented self-concept, anxiety,

depression, and internalized views of society's negative devaluation of their stigma (Beatty & Kirby, 2004; Frable et al., 1998; Goffman, 1963, Moorhead, 1999; Pachankis, 2007; Woods, 1994; Woods & Harbeck, 1991). In fact, Frable et al. (1998) found that those with concealable stigmas had lower levels of self-esteem and higher levels of depression and anxiety than those with visible stigmas and those with no stigmas at all. A person who is passing as "normal" may develop an inconsistent view of self across situations because they are reaping the benefits of privilege associated with concealing but also might feel a sense of fraudulence, guilt, and betrayal (Pachankis, 2007). Particularly when shame or fear of rejection motivates secrecy, people with concealable stigmas suffer the most emotionally (Pachankis, 2007).

Given the comprehensiveness of these stressors, the fate of the closeted invisible minority seems destined for a lonely, depleted, and anxious life. However, there is hope for strategies to protect oneself from this stress and build resilience. Pachankis (2007) offers suggestions of how to break this vicious cycle of concealment. These strategies include: taking careful consideration in deciding to whom to disclose, selectively disclosing to those who seem safe and open-minded, participating in online message groups of people who share the same stigmatized minority status, and finding contact with similar others. Behaviors such as disclosing to safe others and participating in online message groups have been linked to increased self-acceptance and in turn, higher likelihood of coming out to additional family and friends (Pachankis, 2007). Miller and Major (2000) also recommend encouraging invisible minorities to reattribute negative psychological outcomes to the stress of concealment instead of to their own personal flaws.

Should a person decide to disclose, there are several anticipated positive consequences of disclosure. Some of these include: a sense of relief and renewed energy (Clair et al., 2005; Woods, 1994), the ability to identify and affiliate with similar others and foster closer stress-

buffering interpersonal relationships (Corrigan & Matthews, 2003; Meyer, 2003), and increased self-esteem (Corrigan & Matthews, 2003). These relationships are stress-buffering because they can decrease individual's subjective sense of isolation, foster a positive attitude about group membership, and teach one how to negotiate difficult interpersonal situations based on the stigma (Quinn & Chaudoir, 2009). Furthermore, if the stigmatized person is able to attribute negative evaluative feedback from others to prejudice held towards one's group membership this feedback does not have as deleterious of an effect (Crocker, Voelkl, Testa, & Major, 1991). However, if one's stigma is concealed, the person cannot utilize this same buffering technique.

## **Social Support**

Social support refers to the resources and support one is able to garner through fluid connections with the individual's community (Bourdieu, 1985; Bourdieu and Wacquant, 1992; Coleman, 1988; Steinfield, Ellison, & Lampe, 2008). Social support has also been defined as the ability to stay connected with members of a previously inhabited community (Bargh, McKenna, & Fitzsimons, 2002). It is also noteworthy that the term "social capital" may be utilized by sociologists and political scientists, while psychologists tend to refer to it as "social support" (Burke, Kraut, & Marlow, 2011). I will primarily refer to the construct as social support in this dissertation.

Social support includes support and resources achieved through both close, intimate relationships and more casual acquaintances (Bourdieu, 1985; Coleman, 1988; Thoits, 2011). The social support literature distinguishes these types of relationships as either strong ties or weak ties that provide support via bridging or bonding (Granovetter, 1973, 1982; Kraut et al., 1998; Putnam, 2000; Wellman & Wortley, 1990). Sullivan (1953) also refers to these two groups as primary relationships and secondary relationships. Strong tie relationships or primary

relationships are associated with frequent contact and deep feelings of affection and obligation (Kraut et al., 1998; Sullivan, 1953). Strong ties offer support through a mechanism termed bonding, which involves specific reciprocity, emotional support, and companionship (Wellman & Wortley, 1990). These strong social ties generally safeguard people from life stressors and lead to better physiological and psychological outcomes (Cohen & Wills, 1985; Thoits, 2011; Umberson & Montez, 2010). Weak ties, on the other hand, are looser and possibly superficial and infrequent connections between people that generally do not provide emotional support but do offer support via bridging (Granovetter, 1973; Kraut et al., 1998). Support falling under bridging includes being provided with helpful information or a new perspective on a situation. Constant, Sproull, & Kiesler (1996) also note that many online relationships are forms of weak ties and are especially useful for linking people to information and social resources unavailable in local groups. Although we might think of all online relationships as weak, it is possible for both online and offline relationships to be strong or weak tie relationships (Bourdieu & Wacquant, 1992).

In addition to describing the strength and intensity of the relationship, the social support literature also offers two primary theories of how support assuages stress. The first model, the main or direct effect model, suggests that there is an overall beneficial effect of social support, in both the presence and absence of a specific stressor (Cohen & Wills, 1985). The steady support provides consistent affirmative experiences that lead to positive affect, a sense of predictability, stability, and self-worth in the life of the recipient of the support (Burke, Kraut, & Marolow, 2011). This support and consequential well-being makes the recipient more likely to avoid negative experiences such as cigarette smoking, alcohol use, and other risky behaviors, and more likely to seek medical help when necessary (Burke, Kraut, & Marolow, 2011).

The other model, the buffering model, suggests that stress occurs when people believe they do not have a sufficient coping response to handle a threatening situation (Cohen & Wills, 1985). When multiple problems accumulate, people's assessment of their problem solving skills and stress tolerance is even further strained (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). This stress is associated with numerous health concerns including issues with the neuroendocrine system, immune system functioning, increased alcohol use, and poorer diet and exercise habits. The buffering model conceptualizes support serving as an intervention between a stressful event and the stress reaction by preventing a negative stress appraisal response. Specifically, social support intervenes after the experience of stress and before the onset of a pathological outcome by reducing the negative impact of the event (Lewandowski, Rosenberg, Parks, & Siegel, 2011) or reducing or eliminating a stress reaction or directly affecting a physiological processes, such as tranquilizing the neuroendocrine system (Burke, Kraut, & Marolow, 2011).

There are many types of social support including emotional support, informational support, advice, social companionship, and belongingness (Cohen & McKay, 1984; Cohen & Wills, 1985; House & Kahn, 1985; Thoits, 2011). Informational support is more likely to show buffering effects, regardless of the stressor, whereas informational support and social companionship together are helpful when they match specific coping requirements (Cohen & Wills, 1985). Despite the different varieties of support, overall, there is a causal relationship between social support and healthy well-being, mortality, and mental health (Cohen & Wills, 1985). In general, no matter the type of social support, when people have more social contact, they are happier and healthier, physically and mentally (Cohen & Wills, 1985; Gove & Geerken, 1977).

However, there is evidence that suggests that there are moderating factors or individual

differences that determine how social support relates to health and well-being (Berkman, 2001). The emotional support people received during childhood and their attachment style, as examples, likely modify the beneficial effects of social support (Berkman, 2001). Furthermore, social support can have mixed effects on an individual as it may promote self-efficacy and self-esteem or cause one to feel dependent or depleted (Berkman, 2001; Herbert & Dunkel-Schetter, 1992). Furthermore, close relationships with partners or family members, can cause strain and stress in addition to predicting well-being (Uchino, 2013; Walen & Lachman, 2000). One study showed that women report higher rates of psychological distress as a result of their social relationships because they tend to have more emotionally intimate relationships where they are more likely to take on a friend or family member's stress in a "contagious" fashion (Berkman, 2001). Furthermore, in many cases, people of lower socioeconomic statuses and other marginalized groups that are most in need of support from their social networks because of higher stress levels (see minority stress model) are the least likely to receive support and bear more of the costs of network involvement, such as feeling like a burden or an obligation to reciprocate when helped by others (Belle, 1983). These moderating factors do not suggest that stigmatized groups will not benefit from the aforementioned positive mental health and physical health consequences of receiving social support or the maladies associated with lacking such support, but that the relationship between social support and health may be different from majority groups and these differences are worth researching.

Expanding on the buffering model, Thoits (2011) theorizes that the helpfulness of receiving social support during a time of stress depends on who in one's social world is supplying what kind of support. The source could be from primary group members who have intimate and long-lasting relationship ties and tend to be "experientially dissimilar," having not

shared similar experiences as the recipient of support, or from secondary group members who have shorter, looser, and less personal ties and tend to be "experientially similar," having shared similar experiences as the recipient of support (Thoits, 2011). Secondary support from "experientially similar others" might be found through one's in-person immediate social network, through a friend of a friend, or identified groups in the geographical area, or the internet (Thoits, 2011) – the focus of this study. Thoits (2011) also notes that there are some lucky individuals whose primary support groups consists of "experientially similar others." For many, however, this is not the case.

Support from primary and secondary networks can be in many different forms, as discussed above. Thoits (2011) argues that support is the most effective when primary support groups provide emotional support in the form of "demonstrations of caring and provisions of practical aid" (p. 156) and "experientially similar others," generally in the secondary support group, provide "empathic understanding, tailored information and advice, and role modeling actions grounded in supporters' prior experience" (p. 156). In these times of distress, "experientially similar others" are especially adept at providing role modeling, information about how to navigate the issue, and empathic understanding as they have been through a similar situation and are now somewhat removed (Thoits, 2011). Members of the primary support group, however, are not as effective at providing this type of support as they, themselves have not undergone a similar experience, are often distressed themselves and might be distracted about how the issue might affect them or resort to problem-solving (Thoits, 2011). Likewise, members of the secondary support group will not provide as effective caring and immediate assistance with resources because they lack intimacy and frequent contact with the recipient of support (Thoits, 2011).

Lewandowski et al. (2011) make an important distinction between how social support's effects on well-being tends to be measured in research. In "computer-mediated social support" research, particularly, most research examines the effects of "formal, group-based support" such as "formally organized support groups that are convened with the explicit purpose of providing members with social support for specific issues (e.g., HIV/AIDS)" (Lewandowski et al., 2011, p. 1807). There is less research on "informal, inherent support" delivered through mechanisms other than face-to-face interaction (such as the telephone or the internet (Lewandowski et al., 2011)). This study will expand upon the limited research on the effects of informal or implicit support delivered through non face-to-face interaction, the internet, specifically Facebook.

Research that focuses on the dynamics of informal support accessed through the internet is particularly important for invisible minority individuals who may not have similar others in their primary support group and may not be ready to seek more formalized support networks, in-person or online.

### Cohesion, Belongingness, and Support in Minority Groups

Like social support, membership in a group and a sense of belongingness is essential for psychological well-being (Allport, 1953; Berkman, 2001; Brewer, 1991). A sense of belongingness is established through involvement in weak social interactions in a person's community (Berkman, 2001). Belongingness can also be understood as a feeling of deeper connection to a group and feeling special and valued by that group (Brewer, 1991). Allport (1953) wrote about belongingness by discussing it in terms of "in-groups" and "reference groups." An in-group is a group of people where people can use "we" with the same significance. A reference group is one that a person wants to be included into. Membership in an in-group is crucial for survival because always being on the "outside" makes one feel alone and

on guard when others question or threaten their way of life or a characteristic that puts them on the "outside" (Allport, 1953). In general, involvement in social group and a sense of belongingness boosts self-esteem, reduces uncertainty about oneself, and fulfills individuals' basic need to belong (Allport, 1953). Because of the way political, cultural, and economic structures often privilege the dominant majority group, minority groups are forced to make the majority their reference group, thus feeling excluded and on guard (Allport, 1953). Like members of majority groups, individuals from minority groups need to find a group to feel understood and supported, perhaps even more so because of the unique stressors they face (Allport, 1953; Crocker & Major, 1989; Goffman, 1963; Jetten, Branscombe, Schmitt, & Spears, 2001).

Although possessing a minority status can be an exclusionary factor from many groups, it can also facilitate one's membership into a very cohesive group of others (Berkman, 2001). In fact, in the face of perceived discrimination group identification increases because disadvantaged group members de-identify with standards of dominant group and identify more with minority characteristics (Jetten, Branscombe, Schmitt, & Spears, 2001). Group identification for marginalized minority individuals is related to a greater sense of well-being and protection from depression and other psychological concerns for members of disadvantaged groups (Berkman, 2001; Goffman, 1963; Jetten, Branscombe, Schmitt, & Spears, 2001). Stronger affiliations in a minority community and social support may buffer the impact of stress (Crocker & Major, 1989; Branscombe et al., 1999b; Brown et al., 1999). Joining a group of similar others can lead to feeling less isolated and different, disclosing a secret part of oneself, sharing one's own experience and learning from those of others, and gaining emotional and motivational support (McKenna & Bargh, 1998). Goffman (1963) observed how stigmatized minority groups turn to

each other for support, coping, and resilience by joining self-help groups, creating group-specific magazines, attending conferences, and joining national associations and clubs (Goffman, 1963). Beyond the stigmatized group, support and connection with the broader community is also seen as helpful. For LBG youth, for example, self-acceptance along with family support together mediate the effects of victimization on mental health outcomes in the face of verbal abuse and threats of violence (Hershberger & D'Augelli, 1995).

Because invisible minorities, like all minorities, are more likely to feel better (elevate self-esteem and mood) around similar others (Frable, Platt, & Hoey, 1998), it may be beneficial to build and support systems that encourage affiliation between members of an invisible minority group (Goffman, 1963; Goodman & Mueller, 2009; Jetten, Branscombe, Schmitt, & Spears, 2001). Within the context of a university, these networks could be student organizations that highlight concerns of invisible minorities to "enhance visibility of similar others and create positive self-perceptions among group members" (Frable, Platt, & Hoey, 1998, p. 920). In addition to forming student organizations, some have also recommended encouraging use of technology and online networks, including Facebook, to help individuals connect to their broader invisible minority community for atheist students (Goodman & Mueller, 2009), LGBTQ youth (Roe, 2015; Rosario, Schrimshaw, & Hunter, 2004), and young people and men who have sex with men (Gold et al., 2012).

### Relationships Between Facebook and Social Support and Social Capital

Researchers are divided on effects of social networking on mental health outcomes, but one thing that is certain is that the internet is a prime venue for social interaction (D'Amico, 1998). There is a strong association between use of Facebook and the three types of social capital (bridging, bonding, maintenance), with the strongest relationship being to bridging social capital

(Bargh, McKenna, & Fitzsimons, 2002; Ellison, Steinfield, & Lampe, 2007; Ellison et al., 2011; Ellison et al., 2014; Steinfield et al., 2008). Most people report using Facebook to keep in touch with friends (Ellison, Steinfield, & Lampe, 2007; Joinson, 2008; Lampe, Ellison, & Steinfield, 2006; Saleh, Jani, Marzouqi, Khajeh, & Rajan, 2011; Sheldon, 2008). Ellison, Steinfield, and Lampe (2007) found that people also report that they use Facebook to maintain or get closer to people with some offline connection (dorm, classmates). In other words, there was an offline-to-online direction in the movement of these latent ties to crystalize into weak ties. The directionality of these relationships in Ellison et al.'s (2007) study is similar to what has been found in other Facebook studies where offline relationships tend to lead to Facebook relationships, rather than the other way around (Lampe et al., 2006; Ross et al., 2009).

The study also found that less intense Facebook users with lower life satisfaction and self-esteem had lower bridging social capital than individuals with lower life satisfaction who used Facebook more. However, this relationship does not hold true for users with higher life satisfaction and self-esteem. These results along with others support the "poor get richer" hypothesis, or the potential benefits of Facebook use in expanding social capital/support for groups that tend to have lower levels of self-esteem and life satisfaction (Ellison, Steinfield, & Lampe, 2007; Bessiere et al., 2008; Burke, Kraut, & Marlow, 2011; McKenna & Bargh, 2000; Valkenburg & Peter, 2005; Zywica & Danowski, 2008). Grieve et al. (2013) also found that a construct termed "Facebook connectedness," distinct from "offline social connectedness," was associated with higher levels of life satisfaction and lower levels of depression and anxiety.

Many studies look at social activities on social media as monolithic, but there are actually several kinds of activities that may have different psychological and relational implications. For example, directed communication with individual friends such as sending messages, writing wall

posts, chatting, "liking," and commenting on others' status has the potential to help bonding and bridging capital (Burke et al., 2010; Burke, Kraut, & Marlow, 2011). Additionally, receiving messages, but not sending them, relates to increases in bridging social capital (Burke et al., 2010; Burke, Kraut, & Marlow, 2011). Passive consumption of social news such as reading others' status updates and broadcasting, writing for others' consumption, and updating one's own profile is less likely to be specifically relationship-building (Burke, Kraut, & Marlow, 2011). Although passive consumption of friends' Facebook content does not help people with higher than average social skills, it is associated with being helpful for those who are uncomfortable communicating in person (Burke, Kraut, & Marlow, 2011). Again, this finding supports the "poor get richer" hypothesis (Ellison, Steinfield, & Lampe, 2007).

Ellison et al. (2011) also found that different types of Facebook connection strategies, initiating, information-seeking, or maintaining, are engaged in at different rates and have various social capital implications. Neither, initiating, the least common, nor maintaining, the most common, were associated with bridging or bonding social capital, whereas information-seeking, the second most common, was associated with both bridging and bonding social capital (Ellison et al., 2011). Ellison et al. (2011) explain that initiating behavior does not relate to either type of social capital because it does not "exploit one of the true benefits of [Social Networking sites], learning information about latent ties...and that using Facebook to connect with strangers is not the norm on the site, and thus users may be less receptive to these advances" (p. 15).

Information-seeking behavior, on the other hand, clearly does exploit this benefit, helping to turn latent ties into weak or even strong ties, thus enhancing both types of social capital (Ellison et al., 2011). Ellison et al. (2011) also explain that using maintaining strategies to connect with close friends does not relate to perceptions of social capital because often there are several other

channels of communication already being utilized.

Other studies have shown more detrimental effects of Facebook, or the internet in general, such as declines in life-satisfaction, self-esteem, and subjective well-being (Kross et al., 2013). This decline was not moderated by the size of people's Facebook networks, their perceived supportiveness, motivation for using Facebook, gender, loneliness, self-esteem, or depression. A more recent study found that Facebook usage was only associated with depression if the user also experienced envy while viewing content on Facebook (Tandoc, Ferrucci, & Duffy, 2015). Another study found that greater use of Facebook was both associated with higher levels of connection and disconnection, however, use of Facebook, itself, did not reduce feelings of disconnection or more pervasive feelings of loneliness and social disconnection (Sheldon, Abad, & Hinsch, 2011).

A widely cited study by Kraut et al. in 1998 looked at the social and psychological effects of the internet as it began to become more a part of the daily lives of Americans. They found that greater use of the internet was associated with declines in people's communication with family members living in the household as well as declines in the size of their social circle, and increased levels in depression and loneliness. Kraut et al. termed this phenomenon the "internet paradox" because the internet, a social technology used for communication and other forms of interaction, should theoretically result in pro-social outcomes, but in practice was found to be associated with declines in social involvement and psychological well-being. Kraut et al. theorized this paradox could be due to the fact that the presence of the internet causes people to substitute poorer quality internet relationships with weak ties for better quality and stronger tie in-person relationships. However, a much less publicized follow-up study conducted by Kraut et al. in 2002 using the same sample from 1998 in addition to new participants, indicated that the

depression effect was not reliable and that internet users are not, in fact, unusually maladjusted (Kraut et al., 2002). In the more recent study, Kraut et al. found differences in the effects of internet use on social and psychological outcomes depending on extraversion/introversion and current level of social support. Their results fell in line with the "rich get richer" and "poor get poorer" model, where greater internet use predicted better outcomes for extraverts and those with more social support but worse outcomes for introverts and those with less support. Despite individual differences, however, the results suggest that the "internet may have become a more hospitable place over time" (Kraut et al., 2002, p. 23).

There is another debate in the literature and amongst popular opinion if online social networking profiles present idealized versions of the self (the idealized virtual-identity hypotheses) or that these profiles are rather extended presentations of the self (the extended real life hypothesis). Mounting evidence is supporting the extended real-life hypothesis, where profiles are found to be relatively accurate representations of offline identities with little indication of self-idealization (Back et al., 2010; Waggoner, Smith, & Collins, 2009; Pauker et al., 2009). Furthermore, Back et al. (2010) found profile accuracy was strongest for people scoring high on extraversion and openness measures and lowest for those scoring high on a neuroticism measure, indicating that the degree of profile accuracy varies based on personality characteristics. In addition to individual online profiles, there is also evidence that internet groups follow similar dynamics and principles as "real-life" groups (McKenna & Bargh, 1998). Because this evidence suggests that social media users' profiles tend to be accurate presentations of their offline identities and that online behavior might have an effect on offline behavior and well-being, research on social media has both online and offline implications.

# The Internet and Social Networking Sites for Marginalized Groups

There is ample support for the internet and social networking sites as potential counterspaces for marginalized groups. One study suggests that people who are members of a minority group, such as members of the LGBTQ community, are more likely to use the internet and social networking sites to access social connection and information (DeHaan, Kuper, Magee, Bigelow, & Mustanski, 2013). Another study found that racial ethnic minorities, African American, Latino, and Asian American college students create online content more frequently than white students and placed importance participating in online communities that allowed them to identify and connect with others who shared similar interests and values (Correa & Jeong, 2011). Virtual groups offer another platform where people join together online based around interest (McKenna & Bargh, 1998). LGBTQ friendships are often sought online because individuals are isolated and are not out or feel too shy to approach other individuals in person (DeHaan, Kuper, Magee, Bigelow, & Mustanski, 2013). The internet can also offer LGBTQ people support during their coming out process (Mustanski, Lyons, & Garcia, 2011).

Individuals might seek an online community to feel a sense of belonging, and to access information about navigating life with this identity, as well as explore what it is like to "try out" this identity in a relatively safe way online. Lonely people, in general, who are likely to be more socially inhibited, anxious, self-conscious, sensitive to rejection, and have poor social skills and difficulty making friends, prefer the internet to interact with others because they have more control over the interaction (Morahan-Martin & Schumacher, 2003). Furthermore, meeting someone online makes an individual more likely to approach that person offline (DeHaan, Kuper, Magee, Bigelow, & Mustanski, 2013). For many LGBTQ youth, the internet is used to compensate for perceived limitations in resources and relationships offline (DeHaan, Kuper,

Magee, Bigelow, & Mustanski, 2013). In fact, many LGBTQ youth report the internet would be unnecessary if trusted sexual and general health resources were available, but they used online resources because offline sources were unavailable or had high levels of stigma associated with accessing them (DeHaan, Kuper, Magee, Bigelow, & Mustanski, 2013).

The internet has been described as an "identity workshop" (Turkle, 1995) because it allows people to explore their identity in new ways, that are perhaps more risky or more stigmatizing in the offline world. For sexual minorities, this exploration could take the form of sexual experimentation as the internet offers a relatively safe and anonymous space that lowers inhibition (Crowson & Goulding, 2013). Anonymity is key as it allows for a safe way to begin experimenting with disclosure to one's own self and others (Crowson & Goulding, 2013). The anonymous aspect of the internet makes it easier to self-disclose online and some people, particularly those who are lonely, find the anonymous aspect liberating (DeHaan, Kuper, Magee, Bigelow, & Mustanski, 2013; Morahan-Martin & Schumacher, 2003). Finally, the internet and social media sites offer an escape for users in the ability to live beyond the everyday self. For LGBTQ youth, this form of social escapism can be an opportunity to temporarily live free from heterocentric norms (Crowson & Goulding, 2013).

Moreno et al. (2011) have suggested that social networking sites might be a good way to identify college students at risk for depression. Specifically, these sites can be used as screening tools for family members or university staff to identify risk for suicidality. It is not the number of Facebook friends, but involvement on Facebook that affects the probability of a student disclosing symptoms of depression (Moreno et al., 2011). Therefore, for someone who does not have a large social circle, Facebook could be a prime venue to access help or support (Burke, Kraut, & Marlow, 2011; Ellison et al., 2007; Ellison et al., 2011; Ellison et al., 2014; Goodman

& Mueller, 2009; Moreno et al., 2011; Steinfield et al., 2008; Youn et al., 2013).

Although there are many draws to the internet for sexual and other invisible minorities, there are potential negative consequences of use for sexual minorities that might extend to other types of invisible minorities as well. Some of these negatives for sexual minorities include overexposure, openness to homophobic attacks, some sexual predation, an emphasis on sexual content, difficulty finding others of similar age, perceived sense that information exchanged is unreliable, susceptibility to internet addiction, and online-mood modification (Crowson & Goulding, 2013; DeHaan, Kuper, Magee, Bigelow, & Mustanski, 2013; Mustanski, Lyons, & Garcia, 2011). Furthermore, LGBTQ youth who disclosed their minority status online report decreased participation in their offline community and support system, social isolation and depression, and increased number of sexual partners (DeHaan, Kuper, Magee, Bigelow, & Mustanski, 2013). Additionally, many queer youth still found offline relationships more meaningful because of the interpersonal connection made possible by nonverbal cues and inflection in voice (DeHaan, Kuper, Magee, Bigelow, & Mustanski, 2013). There is also a stigma in the LGBTQ community, resulting in ambivalence about meeting sexual partners online (Mustanski, Lyons, & Garcia, 2011). Despite these negatives, many gay men report internet use as having an overall positive effect on their identity formation and felt encouraged to disclose their sexuality offline as a result of their online use (Crowson & Goulding, 2013).

### **Summary**

Extensive literature has shown how visible minority groups continue to face increased stress due to discrimination and oppression. Additionally, research has shown that visible minority groups utilize a variety of strategies, including creating connections with similar others to survive such oppression and even more, to thrive in alternatively structured communities.

Some research has focused on the dynamics of discrimination and oppression faced by invisible minority groups, as well as strategies of resilience, but not as extensively as for visible minority groups. Furthermore, little research has looked at the collective experience of a variety of invisible minority groups.

While social connection and support might be especially important for stigmatized minority groups, research shows that such social exchange is crucial for the health and well-being of all people. The internet and social networking sites such as Facebook have been the focus of new research looking at if and how virtual spaces might facilitate relationship building to provide connection and support similar to offline relationships. This internet and social media research, still in its infancy, has shown varied results, with some findings supporting the idea of virtual space as connecting and healthy for users, others indicating use makes people more isolated and less connected, and still others suggesting that it depends on characteristics of the users.

Some research has shown promising results of the connecting and supportive potential of the internet and social media for minority groups, predominantly members of the LGBQT community. This research suggests that unique qualities of social networking sites such as anonymity, privacy, opportunities for experimentation, and access to information and resources difficult to access offline, might make such virtual spaces more hospitable to stigmatized individuals, especially those who are not out in their community. Additionally, this study looks at how factors such as outness, self-esteem, depression, and anxiety might moderate the relationship between Facebook use with similar others and satisfaction with social support. It is important to note that general social support and general use of Facebook will be controlled for in this study in order to rule out variance related to how well individuals successfully access

support across environments, offline and online, and variance related to overall Facebook use, rather than Facebook use specifically with similar others. This dissertation aims to expand upon existing research on the social support implications of Facebook use for majority and minority groups and look at invisible minority groups in particular. Additionally, this dissertation explores various user factors that might shape social support implications of Facebook use.

#### III. Method

## Design

This study was a correlational, descriptive study that used multiple regression analyses to explore the relationship between the extent of Facebook use to connect with similar others (predictor variable) and satisfaction with social support (outcome/criterion variable) for a variety of invisible minority groups. Because the study reflected an effort to evaluate whether Facebook use related to higher levels of perceived social support above and beyond general social support obtained online and offline, general social support was controlled for when evaluating study hypotheses related to satisfaction with social support. Additionally, general Facebook use was controlled for when evaluating study hypotheses related to Facebook use with similar others. The study also looked at how type of strategies implemented on Facebook to connect with similar others related to bridging versus bonding social capital. Finally, the study examined how factors such as outness, self-esteem, depression, and anxiety may have moderated the relationship between Facebook use and perceived social support.

Although other social network platforms have gained popularity in the last few years, a Pew Research Center's report based on data collected in September of 2014 shows that Facebook is still the most popular social media site with 71% of all online adults using Facebook (Duggan, Ellison, Lampe, Lenhart, & Madden, 2015). While sites such as Twitter, Instagram, LinkedIn, and Pintrest show more rapid growth in new users, Facebook is the site where frequency of engagement from existing users continues to grow (Duggan et al., 2015). Overall, the report demonstrates that Facebook remains a "home-base" for users of social media. These findings support the selection of Facebook in this study as an ideal site to examine a wide range of users.

### **Participants and Sample Characteristics**

The study aimed to capture as many types of invisible minority identity experiences as possible. There are many identities and life experiences that might classify one as possessing an invisible minority status, but the focus of this study was the following: following a non-dominant religious belief (as defined by those that fall outside of Christian affiliated religions or sects including atheists and agnostics); possessing an invisible disability, mental illness, or chronic illness or condition such as epilepsy or HIV/AIDS; being infertile, lesbian, gay, bisexual, queer, asexual, non-heterosexual identified, transgender, gender-nonconforming/genderqueer, a person of color who can pass as white, or from a lower socioeconomic or working poor background. Certainly some of these identities can be visible, but the study only utilized data from those participants who indicated that they possessed at least one minority identity that was mostly invisible. The study looked at the overall relationship between Facebook use and perceived well-being for invisible minority groups as a whole.

An a priori power analysis was conducted to determine the sample size necessary to obtain adequate power (0.80) with a small expected effect size of 0.05 and to accommodate an alpha value of 0.05 for the hypotheses and 0.01 (from the Bonferroni correction, yielding an alpha value of 0.0083333) for the research questions. The power analysis indicated that at least 238 participants were needed to detect this effect. Therefore, participant recruitment continued until at least 238 participants completed the survey. In total, 242 participants completed the study in its entirety. Participants who discontinued the study before completion or those who did not indicate at least one invisible minority status that was "mostly invisible" (defined as "when a person who is meeting you for the first time would not know just by looking at you that you hold this identity") were not included in the final analysis.

Of the total 242 participants, the invisible minority statuses most endorsed were religious minorities (55%) and people with mental illness (57.4%). The least number of participants identified being gay (2.5%) and transgender (5%) as their invisible minority statuses. Overall, the sample largely consisted of young/middle adult white, cisgender women, of a variety of sexual orientations and relationship statuses, who were well educated. The average age of participants was 30.1, with an age range of 18 to 67. For a complete breakdown of the demographics of the sample see Tables 1, 2, and 3.

Additionally, descriptive statistics were conducted to determine endorsement of overlapping invisible minority statuses (see Table 2). The two statuses that showed the most overlap of endorsement were those possessing a non-dominant religious belief as well as a mental illness (83 people or 34.30%). There were also a large number of participants who endorsed possessing a non-dominant religious belief and identifying as bisexual (50 people or 20.66%) as well as those who reported possessing a mental illness and identifying as bisexual (47 people or 19.42%). Identities that were related to health status showed some overlap with 28 people or 11.57% of the sample endorsed possessing a chronic illness and invisible disability and 30 people or 12.40 % of the sample endorsed possessing a chronic illness and mental illness. Finally, 34 people or 14.05% of the sample endorsed possessing an invisible disability and mental illness.

#### **Procedure**

**Overview.** The researcher obtained approval from the Institutional Review Board to proceed with the study before going forward with collecting all participant data electronically. As described further below, the researcher posted a link to the Qualtrics study on her own Facebook page as well as shared it with others to recruit participants. When interested

participants clicked on the link they were directed to the study, which was hosted on the Auburn University's Qualtrics page. There, participants were directed to a screen that provided a brief description of the study, serving as an informed consent form (see Appendix A). If they agreed to participate and checked a box indicating they understood and agreed to participate in the study based on the information provided in the information letter, they were directed to the subsequent screen to answer questions to assure that they met the eligibility requirements for participating in the study (see below). If they did not meet the requirements for eligibility, they were thanked and released from the study. If they did meet qualifications for eligibility, they were directed to the subsequent screen to begin answering questions on the survey.

## **Accessing and Completing the Study**

Screening participants. Because the study focused on those invisible minority individuals who use Facebook, the participants were recruited via snowball sampling on Facebook itself (www.Facebook.com). The researcher posted a link to the Qualtrics survey on her own Facebook page as well as shared the link with others by posting it in Facebook groups and messages (see Appendix B).

On a demographic form (see Appendix C) participants indicated all the groups they identified with from a list of the following list of invisible minority statuses: non-dominant religious beliefs (as defined by those that fall outside of Christian affiliated religions or sects including atheists and agnostics), possessing a chronic illness or condition such as epilepsy and HIV/AIDS, possessing an invisible disability, having a mental illness, infertility, lesbian, gay, bisexual, queer, asexual, non-heterosexual identified, transgender, gender-nonconforming/genderqueer, lower socioeconomic background/working poor, and person of color who can pass as white. After making their selection, to confirm that at least one minority

identity was perceived as mostly invisible, participants were asked after each indicated identity: "Is your identity as a member of this group mostly visible or invisible to others?" Participants who did not select that at least one indicated minority identity was mostly invisible were dismissed from the study. In addition to this, participants answered additional demographic questions.

Completion of the study. Participants who qualified for the study and consented to participate proceeded to complete a series of measures which appeared in random order. Prior to beginning the measures, participants were provided with the following directions: "Please note while responding to the below items that 'invisible minority' includes mostly invisible as well as completely invisible identities." Participants were also asked two final titled "Additional Questions" which included, "How important is Facebook to you in being able to connect with individuals who share your same invisible identity(s)?" and "How much have you been able to connect with individuals who share your same invisible identity(s) outside of social media?" These were both answered on a Likert scale. At the end of the study, participants were given the opportunity to take part in a raffle to win one of four \$25 Amazon e gift cards. If participants wanted to be involved in the raffle they were required to provide an email address in another survey accessible through a link at the end of the study so they could be contacted and provided the gift card electronically should they win. Participants were notified that their email and contact information would not be linked to the responses they provided in the survey.

#### Measures

**Connection Strategies.** The Connection Strategies measure was developed by Ellison et al. (2011) to assess individuals' connection practices on Facebook, particularly focusing on the extent to which one uses Facebook to meet new people (initiating), learn more about

acquaintances (information-seeking), and strengthen relationships with existing close friends (maintaining). Items on the Connection Strategies measure are derived from items developed by Ellison et al. (2007) in creating the Facebook Intensity Scale. The scale consists of 13 items, five of which measure initiating behavior on Facebook, four that measure information-seeking behavior, and five measure maintaining behavior. In this study, only 12 items were used, omitting one item from the initiating subscale, "I use Facebook to meet new people." Participants indicate their responses on one of two 5-point Likert scales that range from "1, not likely at all" to "5, very likely." Each item corresponds to the indicated number of points from 1-5. The score for each subscale is calculated by adding up the corresponding scores of the items within each subscale. Higher scores indicate higher level of engagement for each subscale. The Cronbach's coefficient alpha for scores on each of the sub-scales of the Connection Strategies scales were found to be .82 for initiating, .76 for information-seeking, .83 for maintaining, and 0.84 for the total scale (Clayton et al., 2013).

For this study, the wording of the prompt for each subscale was revised to measure participants' engagement in Facebook use with similar others, rather than engagement with members of the general Michigan State Campus community (as was stated in the initial use of the scale in the study conducted by Ellison et al., 2007). As an example, the prompt for the first scale, the Initiating subscale, was changed from "Imagine an MSU student you've never met in real life or had a face-to-face conversation with. How likely are you to do the following?" to "Think of a person who you have never met in real life or had a face-to-face conversation with that you suspect or know has a similar invisible minority identity(s) as you. How likely are you to do the following?" Additionally, in testing Hypotheses 1 and 2 as well as Research Questions 1, 2, and 3 of the study, only the total score of the sum of all subscales were used in analysis to

get an understanding of the extent of participants' Facebook connection usage with similar others overall. In testing Research Questions 4, 5, and 6, the mean score for each subtest was examined and compared individually as conducted in Ellison et al. (2011) and Clayton et al. (2013).

The Social Support Questionnaire. The Social Support Questionnaire (SSQ) is a 27 item self-report questionnaire developed by Sarason et al. (1983) through factor analysis to measure functional aspects of social networks. Factor analysis showed the scale measured two distinct constructs (Sarason et al., 1983), number of supporters and support satisfaction. This study only focused on one of the constructs, satisfaction with social support. Additionally, this study omitted the last item of the questionnaire, "How satisfied are you with the support you get from others in the form of helping you feel better when you are very irritable, ready to get angry at almost anything?" The SSQ scale has an alpha of .94 and a four-week test-retest reliability score of .83 (Sarason et al., 1983). The Satisfaction scale demonstrates strong discriminant validity as it is negatively correlated to depression, anxiety, and neuroticism (Sarason et al., 1983). Additionally, the SSQ has not been found to be associated with a social desirability measure (Sarason et al., 1983).

The measure asks respondents to first indicate people in their life who provide support in the "manner described" and then to "circle how satisfied you are with the overall support you have" for the given item on a 6-point Likert scale from "6, very satisfied" to "1, very dissatisfied." The overall satisfaction score is calculated by taking the mean of all 27 satisfaction scores. Higher scores indicate greater satisfaction with social support.

As already stated, this study only assessed the second part for each item because satisfaction with social support was the construct of interest. Therefore, the instructions were changed to "The following questions ask about people in your life who provide you with help or

support. For each statement, think of a person or people in your life that might provide you with the indicated form of support. It is okay if you cannot think of anyone or think of many people. To report your answer for each item, circle how satisfied you are with the overall support you have, whether it is from one person, many, or nobody. Please answer all questions as best you can." Additionally, a prompt was added to each item to clarify the meaning of the "how satisfied?" question for participants. For example, item one asks, "Think of the person or people you can really count on to listen to when you need to talk" with the follow-up question "how satisfied?" was changed to simply, "how satisfied are you with the support you get from others in the form of listening to you when you need to talk?" Finally, item 15, "Think of a person or people who will comfort you when you need it by holding you in their arms" was changed to "Think of a person or people who will comfort you when you need it by holding you in their arms or sending a caring message," in order to account for sources of support from online or long-distance relationships as well as relationships to others close in proximity.

Nebraska Outness Scale. The Nebraska Outness Scale (NOS) was developed by Meidlinger and Hope (2014) to measure both the disclosure and concealment aspects of outness for sexual minorities. Two subscales make up the measure, a 5-item measure of concealment (NOS-C) and a 5-item measure of disclosure (NOS-D). Participants respond to each item on a 11-point Likert-type scale which on the NOS-C ranges from "0, Never avoid" to "10, Always avoid" and on the NOS-D scale, from "0, 0% or none" to "11, 100% or all." The total score for each subscale is the mean of all items and higher scores on the NOS-C indicate greater concealment and higher scores on the NOS-D indicate greater disclosure. A total score for the NOS is calculated by reversing the NOS-C mean score averaged with the mean NOS-D, and higher scores indicate greater outness.

Overall, the NOS and subscales demonstrate solid internal reliability, discriminant, convergent, and predictive validity (Meidlinger, & Hope, 2014). Meidlinger and Hope (2014) developed items though reviewing relevant literature and data from the Outness Inventory, another scale that measures outness (Meidlinger, & Hope, 2014). Meidlinger and Hope's analysis revealed that concealment and disclosure are separate constructs and concealment is more likely related to minority stress processes for LGB individuals than disclosure (Meidlinger, & Hope, 2014). Strong convergent validity was found with correlations with the Outness Inventory (Mohr & Fassinger, 2000) as well as the Single Item Outness measure which consists of one face-valid item that asks participants to rate how out they are from 0% to 100%. Internal reliability was also strong with an alpha of .89 for the full scale NOS (ranging from .87-.92 across genders and sexual orientations), .80 for the NOS-C, and .82 for the NOS-D (Meidlinger, & Hope, 2014).

For the purposes of this study, the concept of outness for sexual minorities measured by the NOS was expanded to include outness for all invisible minority groups. The prompt for the items assessing disclosure was changed from "What percent of the people in this group do you think are aware of your sexual orientation (meaning they are aware of whether you consider yourself straight, gay, etc.)?" to "What percent of the people in this group do you think are aware of your invisible minority identity(s)?" The prompt for items assessing concealment was changed from "How often do you avoid talking about topics related to or otherwise indicating your sexual orientation (e.g., not talking about your significant other, changing your mannerisms) when interacting with members of these groups?" to "How often do you avoid talking about topics related to or otherwise indicating your invisible minority identity(s) when interacting with members of these groups?" Additionally, a numerical scale from "1, Never," to "11, Always"

was added to the NOS-C subscale to ease participants' ability to rank their responses.

The Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale. The Rosenberg Self-Esteem scale was developed by Rosenberg in 1965 and includes 10 items that measure global self-worth by looking at positive and negative feelings towards the self. It is one of the most commonly used measures to assess self-esteem (Robins, Hendin, & Trzesniewski, 2001). The measure uses a 4-point Likert scale format from "Strongly disagree" to "Strongly agree." For items 1, 3, 4, 7, and 10, "strongly agree" is 4 points, "agree" is 3 points, "disagree" is 2 points, and "strongly disagree" is 1 point. Items 2,5,6,8, and 9 are reversed scored. The total score is calculated by summing up the scores from each item. Higher scores indicate higher self-esteem. The Rosenberg Self-Esteem scale has a reliability estimate and coefficient alpha of .88 (Robins et al., 2001). The scale has also shown strong convergent validity for men, women, and various ethnic groups (Robins et al., 2001). The Rosenberg Self-Esteem scale has been used in a number of studies investigating the relationships between Facebook use and social capital or social support constructs (Ellison et al., 2007; Ellison et al., 2011; Ellison et al., 2014; Steinfield et al., 2008).

Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale-Revised. The Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale-Revised (CESD-R) was, revised by Eaton, et al. (2004) from Radloff's original (1977) version. The CESD-R is a 20 item self-report assessment that measures depressive symptomology. Participants respond to each item by indicating how frequently they have experienced a listed symptom in the past out of one of five options from "0, Not at all or Less than 1 day" to "4, Nearly every day for two weeks." An overall CESD symptom score is calculated by summing up the scores that correspond to each item response. Higher scores indicate higher levels of depression. The scale has a coefficient alpha of .89 (Eaton et al., 2004).

The Penn State Worry Questionnaire. The Penn State Worry Questionnaire (PSWQ) was developed by Meyer et al. (1990) to measure state worry. Fresco et al. (2003) contend the PSWQ is an ideal instrument to measure anxiety and identify generalized anxiety disorder because chronic, excessive and uncontrollable worry is the hallmark of generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) as outlined in the DSM-V (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). The PSWQ consists of 16 items where participants self-report their agreement with each statement on a scale of 1-5 from "1, Not at all typical of me" to "5, very typical of me." To score the PSWQ, a total score is compiled by adding together each item response that corresponds to a score of 1, 2, 3, 4, or 5, depending on whether the item is phrased negatively or positively. Items 1,3,8,10, and 11 are worded positively and items 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, 12, 13, 14, 15, and 16 are worded negatively. Higher scores indicate higher degrees of worry. Van Rijsoort et al. (1999) noted that in a review of various studies assessing the reliability of the PSWQ, the measure had high internal consistency in non-clinical and clinical populations, Cronbach's alpha of .90 to .95 for nonclinical populations, and 0.86 to 0.93 for clinical populations.

The Internet Social Capital Scales. The Internet Social Capital Scales (ISCS) was developed by Williams (2006) based on the Putnam's (2000) understanding of bridging and bonding social capital. Williams (2006) developed the ISCS due to an absence of a measure examining social capital in the age of the internet (Williams, 2006). The ISCS consist of two subscales, the Bonding Subscale and the Bridging Subscale, which can be each used to assess online or offline social capital by substituting the words "online" or "offline" in all 20 items of the measure. Furthermore, Williams indicated that the measure can "be used for more specific social internet activities" (p. 611) as was conducted in this study where "Facebook" substituted "Online." As an example, the first item in the Bonding Subscale, "There are several people

online I trust to help solve my problems" was changed to "There are several people on Facebook I trust to help solve my problems." The offline version of the measure was not used. The item "If I needed an emergency loan of \$500, I know someone on Facebook I can turn to" on the bonding subscale was also changed to "If I needed an emergency loan of \$100, I know someone on Facebook I can turn to." Participants indicate their response on a 5-point Likert scale from "1, strongly disagree" to "5, strongly agree." Each ISCS subscale, bridging and bonding, is scored separately. The total score of each subscale is comprised of the sum of the item responses with items 3 and 9 being reversed on the Bonding subscale. Higher scores indicate higher levels of bridging or bonding social capital.

Williams (2006) developed items measuring bridging social capital by examining the following components from Putnam (2000),"(1) outward looking, (2) contact with a broader range of people, (3) a view of oneself as part of a broader group, and (4) diffuse reciprocity with a broader community" (p. 598) and for bonding social capital, "(1) emotional support, (2) access to scarce or limited resources, (3) ability to mobilize solidarity, and (4) out-group antagonism" (p. 601), also from Putnam's (2000) articulation. The alpha for the full online bridging and bonding scale was .90 (Williams, 2006). Finally, construct validity was established for the online bridging subscale with its positive correlations with "other measures of outward thinking and behaviors, including the extent of contact with people unlike oneself, links to information and assets outside one's daily routine, and behaviors such as meeting new people or visiting chat rooms" (Williams, 2006, p. 606). Similarly, construct validity was established for the online bonding subscale with its positive correlations with "other measures of online closeness, trust, support, and community, including using the Internet to keep in touch with someone geographically distant, having a strong sense of online community, trusting others online, and

being able to get help online for a personal problem" (Williams, 2006, p. 606).

Inventory of Socially Supportive Behaviors (ISSB) Short Form. The ISSB short form was developed by Barrera (1990) and adapted from the original 40-item inventory (Barrera, 1981), and the ISSB short form measures actual or available social support as opposed to perceived social support. The inventory consists of 19 items where respondents indicate on a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from "1, Not at all" to "5, About every day," how frequently "other people do these activities for you, to you, or with you" in the past month (Barrera, 1990). A total score is calculated by summing up the scores which correspond to each item. Higher scores indicate higher levels of general social support. The internal consistency of the short form measure has been found to be .84 (Barrera & Baca, 1990). Additionally, the ISSB's validity has been established by its strong correlation with the Cohesion subscale of the Family Environment Questionnaire and with the Arizona Social Support Interview Schedules (ASSIS).

The ISSB Short Form was used to account for participants' general social support so it could be controlled in the analysis. General support needed to be controlled for in order to draw inferences about associations between Facebook use with similar others and perceptions of social support over and above general support received. Essentially, because it was hypothesized that Facebook use for invisible minorities would predict satisfaction with social support after controlling for more general levels of social support, the ISSB Short Form was used as a control variable.

**Facebook Intensity.** The Facebook Intensity (FBI) scale, developed by Ellison et al. (2007), measures Facebook usage in terms of frequency, duration, connection to the site, and integration into users' daily life. The scale is made up of 6 items where respondents rate how much they endorse a statement based on a 5-point Likert scale from "1, strongly disagree" to "5,

strongly agree" as well as two remaining questions that can be asked in an open-ended format (as in Ellison et al., 2007) or closed-ended format (as in Steinfield et al., 2008). In this study the two final questions, "(7) Approximately how many TOTAL Facebook friends do you have?" and "(8) In the past week, on average, approximately how much time PER DAY have you spent actively using Facebook?") were asked in the closed-ended format on an ordinal 5-point Likert scale. The total score is calculated by finding the mean of all item scores in the scale.

The FBI has demonstrated strong reliability with a coefficient alpha of .83 (Ellison et al., 2007). Solid construct validity has been established for the FBI (Ellison et al., 2007; Ross et al., 2009). Specifically, Ellison et al. (2007) found that scores on the FBI Scale showed positive correlations with the actual number of Facebook friends and amount of time participants spent on Facebook. Beane (2012) also noted findings from Ellison et al. (2007) and Ross et al. (2007) research that showed that in multiple factor analyses of the FBI scale, all six Likert-scale items load on one factor. As greater use of Facebook to connect with similar others was hypothesized to predict greater satisfaction with social support, the FBI was used to control for intensity of general use of Facebook. This is so results and implications are based on use of Facebook to connect with similar others specifically, rather than overall use.

## **Statistical Analysis**

The following statistical analysis were conducted to test the hypotheses and research questions below:

**Hypothesis 1:** Greater use of Facebook to connect with similar others will predict higher satisfaction with social support after controlling for level of general social support and intensity of general Facebook use.

A hierarchical regression analysis was conducted to determine if use of Facebook to

connect with similar others would predict satisfaction with social support above and beyond general social support and general Facebook use. Level of general social support and general Facebook use were entered into the first step of the model, thus removing or controlling for variance accounted for by general social support and intensity of general Facebook use. Next, extent of Facebook use to connect with similar others was added into the model to see if it contributed significantly to the variance accounted for in the satisfaction with social support scores.

**Hypothesis 2:** Degree of outness will moderate the relationship between the extent one uses Facebook to connect with similar others and satisfaction with social support controlling for level of general social support and intensity of general Facebook use. Specifically, it was hypothesized that less outness will be associated with a stronger relationship between extent of Facebook use to connect with similar others and satisfaction with social support.

To determine whether outness moderated the relationship between connection with similar others on Facebook and satisfaction with social support, the interaction of the effects of the predictor variable (connection with similar others) and moderator (outness) was examined after controlling for extraneous variables (general social support and general Facebook use). The main effects of both Facebook use to connect with similar others and outness were entered into the second step of the hierarchical regression model after control variables. Finally, the interaction term between Facebook use to connect with similar others and outness was entered into the third step of the regression model. Although not needed, I planned to use post hoc analyses to understand any significant interaction.

**Research Question 1:** Will level of self-esteem moderate the relationship between the extent one uses Facebook to connect with similar others and satisfaction with social support controlling

for level of general social support and intensity of general Facebook use?

**Research Question 2:** Will level of depression moderate the relationship between the extent one uses Facebook to connect with similar others and satisfaction with social support controlling for level of general social support and intensity of general Facebook use?

**Research Question 3:** Will level of anxiety moderate the relationship between the extent one uses Facebook to connect with similar others and satisfaction with social support controlling for level of general social support and intensity of general Facebook use?

To determine whether self-esteem, depression, or anxiety moderated the effects of connection with similar others on Facebook on satisfaction with social support, hierarchical regression was used and the interaction of the effects of the predictor variable (connection with similar others) and moderators (self-esteem/depression/anxiety) were examined after controlling for extraneous variables (general social support and general Facebook use). Because the research questions were exploratory in nature, the increase in familywise alpha was controlled within the research questions. Specifically, a Bonferroni correction was used. This correction resulted in a new alpha level of 0.0083333 for the statistical analyses used to evaluate the research questions.

Research Question 4: Will engagement in initiating behavior with similar others on Facebook predict/relate to Facebook bridging or bonding social capital after controlling for level of general social support and intensity of general Facebook use?

**Research Question 5:** Will engagement in information-seeking behavior with similar others on Facebook predict/relate to Facebook bridging or bonding social capital after controlling for level of general social support and intensity of general Facebook use?

**Research Question 6:** Will engagement in maintaining behavior with similar others on Facebook predict/relate to Facebook bridging or bonding social capital after controlling for level

of general social support and intensity of general Facebook use?

A set of hierarchical regression analyses were conducted to determine if engagement if initiating behavior, information-seeking behavior, or maintaining behavior on Facebook with similar others would predict Facebook bridging or bonding social capital above and beyond total social support and overall Facebook use. Level of general social support and general Facebook use were entered into the first step of the model, thus removing or controlling for variance accounted for by general social support and intensity of general Facebook use. Then, depending on the variable of interest, engagement in initiating, information-seeking, or maintain behavior was added into the model to see if it contributed significantly to the variance accounted for in bridging or bonding social capital scores.

Table 1

Invisible Minority Status Endorsement of Sample

Invisible Minority Identity	Total % of Sample	n
Non-dominant religion	55.0	133
Chronic illness	24.4	59
Invisible disability	24.8	60
Mental illness	57.4	139
Infertile	10.7	26
Lesbian	6.6	16
Gay	2.5	6
Bisexual	30.6	74
Queer	18.6	45
Asexual	7.4	18
Non-heterosexual	14.9	36
Transgender	5.0	12
Gender non-conforming or genderqueer	11.2	27
Lower socioeconomic background or working poor	20.2	49
Person of color who can pass as white	7.9	19

Table 2

Frequency of the Number of Participants With Overlapping Endorsement of Invisible Minority Status

Invisible Minority Identity	Non-dominant religion	Chronic illness	Invisible Disability	Mental Illness	5 Infertile	Lesbian	Gay	Bisexual	Queer	Asexual	Non-heterosexual	Transgender	Gender non-conforming	Lower socioeconomic hackeround or working	Person of color who can pass as white
Non-dominant religion	-	29	27	83	15	8	4	50	29	11	27	8	21	28	10
Chronic illness		-	28	30	5	2	0	15	8	5	7	3	5	11	5
Invisible Disability			-	34	6	1	0	18	13	8	7	5	8	17	8
Mental Illness				-	11	5	3	47	27	12	23	9	17	32	11
Infertile					-	0	0	8	2	1	3	2	3	7	5
Lesbian						-	2	1	4	1	4	0	0	1	0
Gay							-	1	4	0	2	0	0	1	0

Table 2 Continued Invisible Gender non-conforming Person of color who can Uower socioeconomic background or working Minority Non-dominant religion Identity Invisible Disability 5 Non-heterosexual or genderqueer Chronic illness Mental Illness Bisexual Infertile Asexual Lesbian 81 Queer Gay Bisexual Queer 20 2 12 13 5 4 Asexual 7 5 3 2 1 Non-8 9 3 4 heterosexual Transgender 5 3 3 Gender non-8 4 conforming or genderqueer Lower 5 socioeconomic

background or working poor

Table 3

Demographic Characteristics of Sample

Demographic Variable	Total % of Sample	n					
Gender Identity							
Woman	71.5	173					
Man	10.7	26					
Trans woman	1.2	3					
Trans man	1.7	4					
Bigender	0.8	2					
Gender-	12.0	29					
nonconforming/genderqueer							
Other	2.1	5					
Race or Ethnic Identification							
American Indian or Native	2.1	5					
American							
Asian, Asian American, or Pacific	3.0	1.2					
Islander							
Black or African American	8.0	3.3					
White (non-Hispanic or Latino)	199.0	82.2					
Hispanic or Latino	4.0	1.7					
Multiracial	16.0	6.6					
Other	7.0	2.9					

				_
Tab	1 ~ 2	Can	tini	104
1 (11)	10.0	COIL		ıea

Table 3 Continued  Demographic Variable	Total % of Sample	n
Sexual Orientation		
Heterosexual/straight	33.9	82
Lesbian	7.9	19
Gay	2.9	7
Bisexual	23.1	56
Queer	13.2	32
Asexual	3.3	8
Pansexual	9.5	23
Questioning or unsure	5.0	12
Other	1.2	3
Partner Status		
Single/no-partner	26.4	26.4
One dating partner	24.0	24.0
More than one dating partner	2.5	2.5
Married or long term partner	41.7	41.7
More than one long term partner	1.7	1.7
Divorced	2.1	2.1
Widowed	0.4	0.4
Other	1.2	1.2

Table 3 Continued

Demographic Variable	Total % of Sample	n
Highest Level of Education		
Less than high school diploma	2.5	6
High school diploma	2.5	6
Associate's degree	5.8	14
Some college	25.6	62
Bachelor's degree	32.2	78
Post Bachelor's degree	5.8	14
Graduate/Professional degree	25.6	62

#### IV. Results

This chapter reports results obtained by completing the above discussed statistical analysis to test hypotheses 1 and 2 as well as research questions 1 through 6.

### **Descriptives and Testing of Assumptions**

Descriptive statistics including means, standard deviations, reliabilities, and intercorrelations among variables were examined for all measures used in this study (see Tables 4, 5, and 6). All measures, with the exception of the Nebraska Outness Scale (NOS) met traditional standards of acceptability for internal consistency.

General support was positively correlated with satisfaction with social support, however, general Facebook use was not related to satisfaction or general support. Correlations between variables of related constructs tended to be significant in the expected direction. For example, Facebook use in general and use to connect to similar others were positively related. Concerns with depression and anxiety were also positively related and both were negatively related to self-esteem. In addition, social support satisfaction showed the expected relationships with these mental health variables including being positively related to self-esteem and negatively related to depression and anxiety; however, social support itself was only significantly related to increased self-esteem. Facebook use in general and use to connect with similar others were both positively correlated to Facebook bridging and bonding social capital. Finally, Facebook engagement strategies such as, initiating, information seeking, and maintaining behaviors, were all positively correlated with use of Facebook to connect with similar others.

Preliminary analyses verified there were no violations of the assumptions of homoscedasticity. A test of normality showed a slightly skewed distribution for some variables, but this skew was not large enough to correct (Kim, 2013). However, preliminary analysis

showed that the assumption of linearity could not be demonstrated. Additional exploratory analysis using transformations of variables also failed to show evidence of an inverse or quadratic relationship. Due to a lack of finding of a relationship other than linear, hypotheses and research questions were tested using the linear relationships.

#### Connection With Similar Others on Facebook and Satisfaction with Social Support

Hierarchical regression was used to determine if use of Facebook to connect with similar others predicted satisfaction with social support above and beyond total social support and overall Facebook use. Level of general social support and general Facebook use were entered into the first step of the model to control for variance in satisfaction with social support accounted for by general social support and general Facebook use. Then, extent of Facebook use to connect with similar others was added into the model to determine if it contributed significantly to the variance accounted for in the satisfaction with social support scores. Table 7 shows the variables entered at each step of the regression model and the increase in variance explained by the predictor variables added at each step. Results showed that general social support did contribute significantly to the prediction model (sr = .54, p < .001). However, connecting with similar others on Facebook did not contribute significantly to the variance (sr = .10, p = .069) above and beyond general social support and general Facebook use. This means that connecting with similar others on Facebook did not add significantly to the prediction model.

# Connection With Similar Others on Facebook as a Function of Outness on Satisfaction With Social Support

To determine whether outness moderated the effects of connection with similar others on Facebook on satisfaction with social support, the interaction of the effects of the predictor

variable (connection with similar others) and moderator (outness) were examined after controlling for extraneous variables (general social support and general Facebook use). The main effect of outness was entered into the regression model after the control variables and predictor. Then, the interaction term between Facebook use to connect with similar others and outness was entered into the final step of the regression model. Table 7 shows the variables entered at each step of the regression model and the increase in variance explained by the predictor variables added at each step. The results showed that outness did not account for unique variance in the model (sr = .09 p = .075) and outness did not moderate the relationship between connection with similar others on Facebook and satisfaction with social support (sr = -.07, p = .205) after controlling for general level of social support and general level of Facebook use. Post hoc analyses were not conducted due to the lack of significant interaction.

### Connection With Similar Others on Facebook as a Function of Self-Esteem on Satisfaction With Social Support

To determine whether self-esteem moderated the effects of connection with similar others on Facebook on satisfaction with social support, the interaction of the effects of the predictor variable (connection with similar others) and moderator (self-esteem) were examined after controlling for extraneous variables (general social support and general Facebook use).

Following the strategy for testing the two hypotheses, the control variables of general social support and general Facebook use were entered into the first step of the model. Next, the main effects of both Facebook use to connect with similar others and self-esteem were entered into the second step of the regression model. Finally, the interaction term between Facebook use to connect with similar others and self-esteem was entered into the third step of the regression model. Table 8 shows the variables entered at each step of the regression model and the increase

in variance explained by the predictor variables added at each step. The results showed that self-esteem did account for unique variance in the model (sr = .30, p < .001), but self-esteem did not moderate the relationship between connection with similar others on Facebook and satisfaction with social support (sr = .05, p = .284) after controlling for general level of social support and general level of Facebook use. Post hoc analyses were not conducted due to the lack of significant interaction.

# Connection With Similar Others on Facebook as a Function of Depression on Satisfaction With Social Support

To determine whether depression moderated the effects of connection with similar others on Facebook on satisfaction with social support, the interaction of the effects of the predictor variable (connection with similar others) and moderator (depression) were examined after controlling for extraneous variables (general social support and general Facebook use). Again, the control variables of general social support and general Facebook use were entered into the model. Next, the main effects of both Facebook use to connect with similar others and depression were entered into the second step of the regression model. Finally, the interaction term between Facebook use to connect with similar others and depression was entered into the third step of the regression model. Table 9 shows the variables entered at each step of the regression model and the increase in variance explained by the predictor variables added at each step. The results showed that depression did account for unique variance in the model (sr = -.33, p < .001), but depression did not moderate the relationship between connection with similar others on Facebook and satisfaction with social support (sr = -.00, p = .963) after controlling for general level of social support and general level of Facebook use. Post hoc analyses were not conducted due to the lack of significant interaction.

# Connection With Similar Others on Facebook as a Function of Anxiety on Satisfaction With Social Support

To determine whether anxiety moderated the effects of connection with similar others on Facebook on satisfaction with social support, the interaction of the effects of the predictor variable (connection with similar others) and moderator (anxiety) were examined after controlling for extraneous variables (general social support and general Facebook use). After entering the control variables of general social support and general Facebook into the first step of the model, the main effects of both Facebook use to connect with similar others and anxiety were entered into the second step of the regression model. Finally, the interaction term between Facebook use to connect with similar others and anxiety was entered into the third step of the regression model. Table 10 shows the variables entered at each step of the regression model and the increase in variance explained by the predictor variables added at each step. The results showed that anxiety did account for unique variance in the model (sr = -.23, p < .001), but anxiety did not moderate the relationship between connection with similar others on Facebook and satisfaction with social support (sr = .03, p = .534) after controlling for general level of social support and general level of Facebook use. Post hoc analyses were not conducted due to the lack of significant interaction.

### **Engagement in Initiating Behavior With Similar Others on Facebook and Facebook Bridging and Bonding Social Capital**

A set of hierarchical regression analyses were conducted to determine if engagement- of initiating behavior on Facebook with similar others would predict Facebook bridging or bonding social capital above and beyond total social support and overall Facebook use. As was true with the previous analyses, level of general social support and general Facebook use were entered into

the first step of the models, thus removing or controlling for variance accounted for by general social support and intensity of general Facebook use. Next, extent of initiating behavior on Facebook with similar others was added into the model to see if it contributed significantly to the variance accounted for in the Facebook bridging or bonding capital scores. Table 11 shows the variables entered at each step of the regression model predicting bridging social capital and the increase in variance explained by the predictor variables added at each step. The results showed that engagement in initiating behavior with similar others on Facebook did contribute significantly to the variance in Facebook bridging social capital (sr = .20, p < .001), above and beyond general social support and general Facebook use. This means that engagement in initiating behavior with similar others on Facebook did add significantly to the prediction model and so related to social capital independently of overall Facebook use and general social support. Table 12 shows the variables entered at each step of the regression model predicting bonding social capital and the increase in variance explained by the predictor variables added at each step. The results showed that engagement in initiating behavior with similar others on Facebook did not contribute significantly to the variance in Facebook bonding social capital (sr = .06, p =.316), above and beyond general social support and general Facebook use. This means that engagement in initiating behavior with similar others on Facebook did not add significantly to the prediction model and so does not predict bonding social capital.

# Engagement in Information-Seeking Behavior With Similar Others on Facebook and Facebook Bridging and Bonding Social Capital

A set of hierarchical regression analyses were conducted to determine if engagement if information-seeking behavior on Facebook with similar others would predict Facebook bridging or bonding social capital above and beyond total social support and overall Facebook use. Again,

level of general social support and general Facebook use were entered into the first step of the model to control for variance accounted for by general social support and intensity of general Facebook use. Next, extent of information-seeking behavior on Facebook with similar others was added into the model to see if it contributed significantly to the variance accounted for in the Facebook bridging capital scores. Table 13 shows the variables entered at each step of the regression model and the increase in variance explained by the predictor variables added at each step. The results showed that engagement in information-seeking behavior with similar others on Facebook did contribute significantly to the variance in Facebook bridging social capital (sr =.14, p = .007), above and beyond general social support and general Facebook use. This means that engagement in information-seeking behavior with similar others on Facebook did add significantly to the prediction model and so does predict bridging social capital. Table 14 shows the variables entered at each step of the regression model predicting bonding social capital and the increase in variance explained by the predictor variables added at each step. The results showed that engagement in information-seeking behavior with similar others on Facebook did not contribute significantly to the variance in Facebook bonding social capital (sr = .08, p =.171), above and beyond general social support and general Facebook use. This means that engagement in information-seeking behavior with similar others on Facebook did not add significantly to the prediction model and so does not predict bonding social capital.

# **Engagement in Maintaining Behavior With Similar Others on Facebook and Facebook Bridging and Bonding Social Capital**

A set of hierarchical regression analyses were conducted to determine if engagement of maintaining behavior on Facebook with similar others would predict Facebook bridging or bonding social capital above and beyond total social support and overall Facebook use. Like in

other analyses described above, level of general social support and general Facebook were controlled. Next, extent of maintaining behavior on Facebook with similar others was added into the model to see if it contributed significantly to the variance accounted for in the Facebook bridging capital scores. Table 15 shows the variables entered at each step of the regression model and the increase in variance explained by the predictor variables added at each step. The results showed that engagement in maintaining behavior with similar others on Facebook did not contribute significantly to the variance Facebook in bridging social capital (sr = .00, p = .947), above and beyond general social support and general Facebook use. This means that engagement in maintaining behavior with similar others on Facebook did not add significantly to the prediction model and so uniquely relate to bridging social capital. Table 16 shows the variables entered at each step of the regression model predicting bonding social capital and the increase in variance explained by the predictor variables added at each step. The results showed that engagement in maintaining behavior with similar others on Facebook did not contribute significantly to the variance in Facebook bonding social capital (sr = .15, p = .010) above and beyond general social support and general Facebook use, using the adjusted cutoff (however, it should be noted that it met traditional cutoffs for significance). This means that engagement in maintaining behavior with similar others on Facebook did not add significantly to the prediction model and so does not predict bonding social capital.

#### **Additional Questions**

Participants were also asked two additional questions regarding their use online and offline efforts to connect with similar others. Participants' responses for these additional questions were analyzed using descriptive statistics (see Table 17). For the first question, "How important is Facebook to you in being able to connect with individuals who share at least one of

your invisible minority identity(s)?", results indicated a mean response of 3.00 with a standard deviation of 1.47, where an endorsement of 2 indicates "Important," 3 indicates "moderately important," and 4 indicates "Slightly important." For the second question, "How much have you been able to connect with individuals who share at least one of your invisible identity(s) outside of social media?", the mean response was a 3.02 and a standard deviation of 1.35, where 2 indicates a response of "Frequently", 3 indicates "Occasionally," and 2 of "Frequently."

Additional analysis of the correlation between these two self-report items and other primary variables of interest was conducted (see Table 17). Both additional questions were scored so that lower scores indicated greater importance on Facebook use to similar others (AQ1) or greater frequency in ability to connect with similar others outside of social media (AQ2). Therefore, many relationships showed an expected negative correlation.

For example, AQ1 was negatively correlated with Facebook use with similar others, suggesting that there is a positive relationship between importance placed on using Facebook to connect with similar others and engagement with that behavior. There was also a negative correlation for

with similar others and engagement with that behavior. There was also a negative correlation for both AQ1 and AQ2 with general Facebook use and Facebook bridging and bonding social capital. This indicates that general Facebook use and bridging and bonding social capital relate positively to importance placed on connecting with similar others on Facebook and frequency of engagement with similar others beyond social media. Finally, there was a negative relationship between AQ2 and outness, suggesting that there is a positive relationship between outness and frequency of engagement with similar others outside of social media.

Table 4

Descriptive Statistics

Measure	Mean	SD
FBCON	42.93	8.04
SSQ	4.54	1.03
FBI	3.74	0.70
ISSB	47.81	12.64
OUT	5.58	1.83
SLFSTM	26.75	5.04
DEP	24.46	17.15
ANX	58.05	15.34
FB INT	2.82	0.98
FB INFSK	3.21	0.97
FB MNTNG	4.70	0.56
FB BRDGNG	36.76	8.19
FB BDNG	35.29	8.17

Note: FBCON = Facebook connection with similar others; SSQ = satisfaction with social support; FBI = general Facebook use; ISSB = general social support; OUT=level of outness; SLFSTM= level of self-esteem; DEP = level of depression; ANX = level of anxiety; FB INT = initiating behavior with similar others on Facebook; FB INFOSK = information-seeking behavior with similar others on Facebook; FB MTNG = maintaining behavior on Facebook with similar others; FB BRDGNG = Facebook bridging social capital; FB BNDING = Facebook bonding social capital.

Table 5

Reliability for Scales in Current Study Compared to Established Reliability

Measure	Current Sample	Established Reliability****
FBCON	.86	.84*
FB INT	.79	.82*
FB INFOSK	.84	.76*
FB MNTNG	.88	.83*
SSQ	.97	.94**
OUT	.51	.8792***
SLFSTM	.80	.88
DEP	.94	.89
ANX	.95	.8695
FB BNDING	.87	.90****
FB BRDGING	.89	.90****
FBI	.80	.83
ISSB	.87	.84

Note: All measures in this study showed acceptable reliability with the exception of the OUT scale. FBCON = Facebook connection with similar others; FB INT = initiating behavior with similar others on Facebook; FB INFOSK = information-seeking behavior with similar others on Facebook; FB MTNG = maintain behavior on Facebook with similar others; SSQ = satisfaction with social support; OUT=level of outness; SLFSTM= level of self-esteem; DEP = level of depression; ANX = level of anxiety; FB BNDING = Facebook bonding social capital; FB Bridging = Facebook bridging social capital; FBI = general Facebook use; ISSB = general social support. The wording of the prompt for each subscale was revised to measure participants' engagement in Facebook use with similar others, rather than engagement with members of the general Michigan State Campus community as was used in the initial scale.\*\*Measure items and directions were adapted to only assess support satisfaction rather than satisfaction in addition to number of supporters.\*\*\*The wording of this measure was changed to expand the concept of "outness" for sexual minorities to all invisible minority groups.\*\*\*\*The word "online" was substituted for "Facebook." \*\*\*\*\* See Barrera & Baca, 1990; Clayton et al., 2013; Eaton et al., 2004; Ellison et al., 2007; Meidlinger, & Hope, 2014; Robins et al., 2001; Sarason et al., 1983; Van Rijsoort et al., 1999; Williams, 2006.

Table 6

$\sim$	, ·	Matrix	
OVVO	ation	Matrix	

										FB	FB	FB
									INFSK	MTNG	BRDGNG	BDNG
FBCON	.09	.36**	.03	04	07	.10	.12	.85**	.89**	.57**	.37**	.22*
SSQ	-	.06	.55**	.17**	.38**	37**	21**	14*	08	.06	.04	.42*
FBI		-	05	.00	10	.04	.16*	.33**	.30**	.15*	.62**	.29*
ISSB			-	.14*	.15*	06	.04	04	.03	.12	.04	.38**
OUT				-	.21**	19**	16*	04	.00	09	.02	.17*
SLFSTM					-	62**	51**	09	08	.05	.02	.20*
DEP						-	.49**	.16*	.06	02	.01	08

Table 6 Co Measure	SSQ	FBI	ISSB	OUT	SLFSTM	DEP	ANX	FB INT	FB	FB	FB	FB
									INFSK	MTNG	BRDGNG	BDNG
ANX							-	.08	.08	.14*	02	05
FB INT								-	.62**	.23*	.39**	.14*
FB INFSK									-	.37**	.32**	.18**
FB MNTNG										-	.10	.24**
FB BRDGNG											-	.39**

Descriptive Statistics and Correlation Matrix for Variables Examined in This Study Note. FBCON = Facebook connection with similar others; SSQ = satisfaction with social support; FBI = general Facebook use; ISSB = general social support; OUT=level of outness; SLFSTM= level of self-esteem; DEP = level of depression; ANX = level of anxiety; FB INT = initiating behavior with similar others on Facebook; FB INFOSK = information-seeking behavior with similar others on Facebook; FB MTNG = maintaining behavior on Facebook with similar others; FB BRDGNG = Facebook bridging social capital; FB BNDING = Facebook bonding social capital. \*p<.05;\*\* p<.01; N = 242

FB BDNG

Table 7

Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Moderating Effect of Connection With Similar Others on Facebook by Outness, in Predicting Social Support Satisfaction

Predictor	$\Delta R^2$	β	sr	p
Step 1	.30			
FBI		.04	04	.499
ISSB		.55	.54	< .001
Step 2	.01			
FBI		.00	.00	.999
ISSB		.55	.59	< .001
FBCON		11	01	.069
Step 3	.02			
FBI		00	00	.966
ISSB		.54	.53	< .001
FBCON		10	09	.082
OUT		.09	.09	.101
Step 4	.01			
FBI		01	01	.862
ISSB		.54	.53	< .001
FBCON		10	10	.071
OUT		.10	.10	.075
OUT X FBCON		07	07	.205

*Note:* FBI = general Facebook use; ISSB = general social support; FBCON = Facebook connection with similar others; OUT=level of outness. FBCON and OUT were centered.

Table 8

Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Moderating Effect of Connection With Similar Others on Facebook by Self-Esteem in Predicting Social Support Satisfaction

Predictor	$\Delta R^2$	β	sr	p
Step 1	.30			
FBI		04	04	.499
ISSB		.55	.54	< .001
Step 2	.10			
FBI		.02	.02	.659
ISSB		.51	.50	< .001
SLFSTM		.31	.30	< .001
FBCON		.09	.09	.087
Step 3	.00			
FBI		.02	.02	.658
ISSB		.50	.48	< .001
SLFSTM		.31	.30	< .001
FBCON		.09	.08	.102
SLFSTM X FBCON		.06	.05	.284
Total R <sup>2</sup>	.40			

*Note:* FBI = general Facebook use; ISSB = general social support; SLFSTM=level of self-esteem; FBCON = Facebook connection with similar others. FBCON and SLFSTM were centered.

Table 9

Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Moderating Effect of Connection With Similar Others on Facebook by Depression, in Predicting Social Support Satisfaction

Predictor	$\Delta R^2$	β	sr	p
Step 1	.30			
FBI		04	04	.499
ISSB		.55	.54	< .001
Step 2	.12			
FBI		.00	.00	.969
ISSB		.53	.53	< .001
DEP		33	33	< .001
FBCON		.07	.07	.176
Step 3	.00			
FBI		.00	.00	.970
ISSB		.53	.52	< .001
DEP		33	33	< .001
FBCON		.07	.07	.179
DEP X FBCC	ON	00	00	.963
Total R <sup>2</sup>	.42			

*Note*: FBI = general Facebook use; ISSB = general social support; DEP=level of depression; FBCON = Facebook connection with similar others. FBCON and DEP were centered.

Table 10

Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Moderating Effect of Connection With Similar Others on Facebook by Anxiety, in Predicting Social Support Satisfaction

Predictor	$\Delta R^2$	β	sr	p
Step 1	.30			
FBI		04	04	.499
ISSB		.55	.54	< .001
Step 2	.06			
FBI		.03	.03	.579
ISSB		.56	.56	< .001
ANX		23	22	< .001
FBCON		.09	.08	.109
Step 3	.00			
FBI		.03	.03	.616
ISSB		.56	.56	< .001
ANX		23	23	< .001
FBCON		.10	.09	.091
ANX X FBCON		.03	.03	.534
Total R <sup>2</sup>	.36			

*Note*: FBI = general Facebook use; ISSB = general social support; ANX=level of anxiety; FBCON = Facebook connection with similar others. FBCON and ANX were centered.

Table 11

Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Initiating Behavior With Similar Others on Facebook in 
Predicting Facebook Bridging Social Capital

Predictor	$\Delta R^2$	β	sr	p
Step 1	.39			
FBI		.63	.63	<.001
ISSB		.07	.07	.181
Step 2	.04			
FBI		.56	.53	< .001
ISSB		.07	.07	.134
FB INT		.21	.20	<.001

.43

*Note:* FBI = general Facebook use; ISSB = general social support; FB INT = initiating behavior on Facebook with similar others.

Table 12

Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Initiating Behavior With Similar Others on Facebook in 
Predicting Facebook Bonding Social Capital

Predictor	$\Delta R^2$	β	sr	p
Step 1	.24			
FBI		.31	.31	< .001
ISSB		.39	.39	< .001
Step 2	.00			
FBI		.29	.27	< .001
ISSB		.40	.40	< .001
FB INT		.06	.06	.316

.24

*Note:* FBI = general Facebook use; ISSB = general social support; FB INT = initiating behavior on Facebook with similar others.

Table 13

Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Information-Seeking Behavior With Similar Others on
Facebook in Predicting Facebook Bridging Social Capital

Predict	tor	$\Delta R^2$	β	sr	p
Step 1		.39			
	FBI		.63	.63	< .001
	ISSB		.07	.07	.181
Step 2		.02			
	FBI		.58	.56	< .001
	ISSB		.06	.06	.214
	FB INFOSK		.14	.14	.007

.41

*Note*: FBI = general Facebook use; ISSB = general social support; FB INFOSK = information-seeking behavior on Facebook with similar others.

Table 14

Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Information-Seeking Behavior With Similar Others on Facebook in Predicting Facebook Bonding Social Capital

Predictor	$\Delta R^2$	β	sr	p	
Step 1	.24				
FBI		.31	.31	< .001	
ISSB		.39	.39	< .001	
Step 2	.01				
FBI		.28	.27	< .001	
ISSB		.39	.39	< .001	
FB INFOSK		.08	.08	.171	

 $Total \; R^2$ 

.24

*Note:* FBI = general Facebook use; ISSB = general social support; FB INFOSK = information-seeking behavior on Facebook with similar others.

Table 15

Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Maintaining Behavior With Similar Others on Facebook in Predicting Facebook Bridging Social Capital

Predictor	$\Delta R^2$	В	sr	p
Step 1	.39			
FBI		.63	.63	< .001
ISSB		.07	.07	.181
Step 2	.00			
FBI		.63	.62	< .001
ISSB		.07	.07	.118
FB MNTNG		.00	.00	.947

.39

*Note:* FBI = general Facebook use; ISSB = general social support; FB MNTNG = maintaining behavior on Facebook with similar others.

Table 16

Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Maintaining Behavior With Similar Others on Facebook in Predicting Facebook Bonding Social Capital

Predictor	$\Delta R^2$	β	Sr	p	
Step 1	.24				
FBI		.31	.31	< .001	
ISSB		.39	.39	< .001	
Step 2	.02				
FBI		.28	.28	< .001	
ISSB		.38	.37	< .001	
FB MNTNG		.15	.15	.010	
Total $\mathbf{p}^2$					

Total R<sup>2</sup>

.25

*Note: Note:* FBI = general Facebook use; ISSB = general social support; FB MNTNG = maintaining behavior on Facebook with similar others.

Table 17

Descriptive Statistics of Additional Questions

Question	Mean	SD
AQ1	3.00	1.47
AQ2	3.02	1.35

Note. AQ1= additional question (1), "How important is Facebook to you in being able to connect with individuals who share at least one of your invisible minority identity(s)?"; AQ2= additional question (2), "How much have you been able to connect with individuals who share at least one of your invisible identity(s) outside of social media?"

Table 18

Correlations Between Additional Questions and Other Variables

Variable	AQ1	AQ2
FBCON	44**	10
FBI	47**	15*
SSQ	.07	19**
ISSB	.03	17*
FB BRDGNG	53**	20**
FB BNDNG	30**	22**
OUT	07	19**

*Note.* AQ1= additional question (1), "How important is Facebook to you in being able to connect with individuals who share at least one of your invisible minority identity(s)?"; AQ2= additional question (2), "How much have you been able to connect with individuals who share at least one of your invisible identity(s) outside of social media?; FBCON = Facebook connection with similar others; FBI = general Facebook use; SSQ = satisfaction with social support; ISSB = general social support; FB BRDGNG = Facebook bridging social capital; FB BNDING = Facebook bonding social capital; OUT=level of outness. \*p<.05; \*\*\* p<.01; N =242

#### V. Discussion

#### Overview

This chapter unpacks the findings reported in chapter 4. Additionally, this chapter includes limitations of this study and explores implications for practice as well as future directions for research in this area.

#### **Summary of Findings**

Connection with similar others on Facebook and satisfaction with social support.

Study results did not support a significant relationship between general Facebook use or connecting with similar others on Facebook and satisfaction with social support above and beyond general social support. However, results suggest that general social support alone does have a significant relationship with satisfaction with social support for invisible minorities. In fact, findings indicated that general social support accounted for 29% of the variance, suggesting that a substantial amount of satisfaction with social support can be explained by general social support. These results imply that for invisible minority individuals, the amount of generalized social support available in their life does indeed relate to how pleased they are with such support. Generalized social support refers to the available support people receive from any individual online or offline, including similar others with the same invisible minority status as well as those without the same invisible minority status.

This finding is promising because it implies that invisible minority individuals might have the capacity to feel supported in a number of ways from people who are similar and different from them, rather than only from people who are like them online. Additionally, this finding suggests that actual social support available does, indeed, become internalized by invisible minority individuals as satisfaction with felt, or perceived, support. Satisfaction with

social support is critical for all people, particularly those subjected to increased minority stress, because it is linked to a number of positive health and well-being outcomes (Cohen & Wills, 1985; Gove & Geerken, 1977).

These results could also suggest that the benefits of Facebook use to connect with similar others is limited to those who are already adept at finding and reaping satisfaction with social support from a variety of sources online and offline (Kraut et al., 2002; Sheldon, 2008; Zywica & Danowski, 2008). However, the lack of significant relationship between Facebook use to connect with similar others and satisfaction with social support suggests that this is likely not the reason. Instead, this could imply that aspects of the internet and social networking sites that have been shown to make online space more amendable for invisible minorities (Crowson et al., 2013; DeHaan, Kuper, Magee, Bigelow, & Mustanski, 2013; Morahan-Martin & Schumacher, 2003), are not actually different enough from offline spaces to propel people to connect who would not otherwise offline.

Moderating factors on the relationship between connection with similar others on Facebook and satisfaction with social support. Due to findings from prior research, it was hypothesized that various trait factors such as outness, self-esteem, depression, and anxiety would affect the relationship between use of Facebook to connect with similar others and satisfaction with social support. More specifically, some past research supports the "rich get richer" hypothesis where those with better social skills and higher levels of self-esteem, extroversion, and life satisfaction and lower levels of depression and anxiety obtain the most increase in social support and social capital in using the internet and social networking sites (Kraut et al., 2002; Sheldon, 2008; Zywica & Danowski, 2008). Other studies support the "poor get richer" hypothesis, where the largest increase in social capital and social support is seen in

groups that have lower levels of self-esteem and life satisfaction and higher levels of mental health concerns (Bessiere et al., 2008; Burke, Kraut, & Marlow, 2011; Ellison, Steinfield, & Lampe, 2007; McKenna & Bargh, 2000; Valkenburg & Peter, 2005; Zywica & Danowski, 2008). It is important to note that the present study did not test the overall hypotheses of the "rich get richer" or "poor get richer" related to overall Facebook use. Instead, the focus was specifically related to Facebook use to connect with similar others and the evaluation of overall Facebook use was not the focus of the study.

This study did not show that any of these factors, outness, self-esteem, depression, or anxiety, moderated the relationship between use of Facebook to connect with similar others and satisfaction with social support. Additionally, no significant relationship between outness and satisfaction with social support was found. This finding might be explained by the low reliability coefficient found for the revised measure used in this sample. This finding could also be explained by the myriad costs and benefits of being out. Although greater outness might make people more able to find and connect with similar others, feel more authentic, and spend less cognitive energy on concealing a part of themselves (Frable, Platt, & Hoey, 1998; Goffman, 1963; Meyer, 2007; Pachankis, 2007; Smart & Wegner, 1999, 2000), more outness can also increase vulnerability to discrimination, ostracization, rejection, and hostility (Goffman, 1963; Pachankis, 2007). Additionally, prior research has primarily examined the construct of outness in regards to sexual orientation, while this study used the construct in a broader sense such that there could be differences in the function and implication of outness depending on the identification (the particular invisible minority status). Therefore, the mixed implications of outness fit with the study's finding that a significant relationship between outness and satisfaction with social support cannot be determined.

Importantly, study findings do suggest a significant relationship between self-esteem, depression, and anxiety with satisfaction with social support. Specifically, high level of self-esteem was positively correlated with satisfaction with social support. Self-esteem accounted for 9% of the variance in satisfaction with social support, suggesting that a modest portion of satisfaction with social support can be explained by one's self-esteem. This finding is congruent with prior research that trust and respect of one's own sense of worth is positively related to the quality and satisfaction of the support one feels from others (Berkman, 2001).

Level of depression and anxiety, however were negatively correlated with satisfaction with social support. Depression accounted for 11% of the variance in satisfaction with social support and anxiety accounted for 5% of the variance, suggesting that a modest portion of satisfaction with social support can also be explained by one's level of depression and anxiety. These findings are also consistent with prior research that suggests that greater affiliation with a group covaries with more positive mental health outcomes, namely lower levels of depression and anxiety, and conversely, less affiliation and support covaries with more negative mental health outcomes (Berkman, 2001; Goffman, 1963; Jetten, Branscombe, Schmitt, & Spears, 2001).

Type of Facebook behavior and Facebook bridging and bonding social capital. It was predicted that there would be a relationship between various types of Facebook behavior with similar others including, initiating, information-seeking, and maintaining behavior, and Facebook bridging or bonding social capital. Results showed that there was a positive correlation between engagement in initiating behavior with similar others on Facebook and bridging social capital. Similarly, results demonstrated that there was a positive correlation between engagement in information-seeking behavior and bridging social capital, which is consistent with prior

research (Ellison et al., 2011). Initiating behavior accounted for 4% of the variance and information-seeking behavior accounted for 2% of the variance, suggesting that a small portion of Facebook bridging social capital can be explained by engagement in initiating and information-seeking behavior with similar others on Facebook. However, findings did not support a significant relationship between initiating or information-seeking behavior and Facebook bonding social capital.

These results can be explained by the fact that bridging social capital is garnered through distant and infrequent contact with others (Granovetter, 1973; Kraut et al., 1998) that is characteristic of both initiating and information-seeking behavior. Initiating behavior involves use of Facebook to meet new people by browsing their profiles, contacting them using Facebook, adding them as a Facebook Friend, or meeting them face-to-face (Ellison et al., 2007), while information-seeking behavior implies engaging in these same behaviors with acquaintances that are already known to learn more about them (Ellison et al., 2007).

These findings differ from Ellison et al. (2011) results that found that information-seeking behavior was the only type of Facebook connection strategy associated with bridging and bonding social capital. The finding that initiating behavior was associated with bridging social capital in this study might be due to the fact that invisible minorities are different than the general sample from the Ellison et al. (2011) study in that they may be more likely to initiate and benefit from contact with strangers who have a minority identity status in common that could serve as a starting point for connection.

Additionally, information-seeking behavior was not associated with bonding social capital in this study as it was in Ellison et al. (2011). This difference could relate to the fact that the sample from the Ellison et al. (2011) study were college students who were geographically

close whereas the sample from this study were older than normatively college aged students living in a variety of geographic locations. It could be that for younger, college students living in close proximity to each other, engaging in information-seeking behavior might relate to bonding social capital because the relationships formed online to people in one's college community can more easily become offline relationships. Additionally, younger college age people might have more space or need to garner bonding social capital, which is more personal and emotional support obtained from closer and more intimate relationships (Wellman & Wortley, 1990), than for their older counterparts who already have such support offline from friends or family.

The study findings did not reveal a significant relationship between maintaining behavior on Facebook with similar others and Facebook bridging or bonding social capital. The finding that maintaining behavior, which includes using Facebook to strengthen ties with existing close friends by browsing their profiles, contacting them using Facebook, adding them as a Facebook friend, or meeting them face-to-face (Ellison et al., 2007) does not relate to bridging capital makes sense given the less intimate nature of bridging social capital. However, it is surprising that a significant relationship between maintaining behavior and bonding social capital was not found because it would seem that the type of intimate and connection-fostering exchanges possible via maintaining behavior would indeed relate to reciprocity, emotional support, and companionship implied in bonding social capital (Wellman & Wortley, 1990). However, this finding could be explained by the limitations of Facebook as an online medium that might not allow for the delivery and receipt of the intimacy suggested in bonding social capital and may raise important implications about the value of connection with similar others, as well as generally supportive others, offline. Additionally, like the lack of relationship between information-seeking behavior and bonding social capital, this lack of relationship could be due to the average age of participants who might already be receiving the kind of support offered in bonding social capital from friends or family. Also, because general Facebook use showed a significant relationship with bonding social capital, perhaps this kind of generalized use is more important for gains in Facebook bonding social capital than specific Facebook engagement with similar others.

Additional questions. Participants' responses on the additional questions in the survey are consistent with other findings in this investigation. The mean response to the first question, "How important is Facebook to you in being able to connect with individuals who share at least one of your invisible minority identity(s)?" was in the "moderately important" range. This suggests that invisible minorities likely somewhat value using Facebook to connect with similar others, but the benefits and costs of this use is unclear. Similarly, the mean response to the second question, "How much have you been able to connect with individuals who share at least one of your invisible identity(s) outside of social media?" was in the "Occasionally" range. Again, this suggests that many invisible minorities are connecting with similar others at least minimally offline.

#### Limitations

There are several limitations to acknowledge in this study. Firstly, because this study was correlational, without an experimental manipulation, no causality can be inferred. Therefore, for findings such as initiating and information-seeking behavior that show a positive significant relationship with bridging social capital, we cannot infer that engaging in initiating and information-seeking behavior on Facebook with similar others causes increases in Facebook bridging social capital. It is possible that engaging in initiating and information-seeking with similar others could, in fact, increase one's Facebook bridging social capital, or support that

offers informational support and advice or perspective (Granovetter, 1973; Kraut et al., 1998). Conversely, it is also possible that possessing greater Facebook bridging social capital, makes one more likely to engage in Facebook initiating or information-seeking behaviors with similar others. Therefore, the directionality of this relationship is unknown and could be bidirectional. Similarly, some other, unmeasured, variable such as extroversion or resourcefulness could cause both.

Secondly, many of the measures in this study have been revised, which changes their psychometric properties. Because the research on invisible minority experience is scarce and research on the implications of social media use is new, there were few established measures that met the measurement needs of this study. Therefore, measures such as Connection Strategies (Ellingson et al., 2011), the Social Support Questionnaire, (Sarason et al., 1983), and the Nebraska Outness Scale (Meidlinger & Hope, 2014) were all revised to capture the perspectives of interest in this study. While these measures are psychometrically sound in their original form, it is unclear how these properties change when revised. For example, the majority of measures used in this study showed similar reliability estimates as seen in past research, but the Nebraska Outness Scale showed a lower reliability estimate in this study (see Table 4). The revisions to the Nebraska Outness Scale might have proven more problematic than revisions to other measures in the study because there could be something theoretically unique to the concept of outness for sexual minorities that does not transfer to other diverse invisible minority groups included in this sample. Perhaps outness is more salient for sexual minorities as it can affect life in a more pervasive and global way such as being open about one's partner than for other invisible minority groups where implications might be more minimal.

Thirdly, as discussed in chapter 4, the assumptions of linearity were violated for two

primary variables, connection with similar others on Facebook and satisfaction with social support. Transformation of the data or curvilinear analyses did not resolve or explain the violation of linearity. This violation necessitates caution in interpreting results because it is unclear if there is a genuine lack of relationship or something else atypical about the study results. Additionally, some tests showed a slightly skewed distribution, but still fell within an acceptable range (Kim, 2013), so overall the assumption of normality was largely maintained.

Fourthly, the study's focus on capturing the experience of many types of invisible minority individuals as a whole, overlooks the exploration of between-group differences. The types of invisible minority identities included in this study are extensive including identities that involve facets of oneself that are quite different such as race or ethnicity, sexuality, socioeconomic status, religious orientation, health status, and gender. Not all of these identities were equally represented in the sample. For example, 57.4% of the sample identified as possessing a mental illness and 55% identified as affiliating with a non-dominant religion, while only 5% identified as trans and 2.5% as gay. This could suggest that the findings of the study might not be representative of all invisible minority groups included, but rather have more meaning for groups that are more largely represented in the sample.

Fifthly, the snowball sampling and self-selection method of recruitment might be problematic in creating an unrepresentative sample. Snowball sampling makes it so participants are likely similar in a variety of ways and so characteristics such as personal or professional interests, geographical location, social class, education status, and other factors, might skew the variance in ways outside of the variables of interest. For example, if a significant portion of the sample is located in the Southeastern region of the United States where the study originated, results could be influenced by social, cultural, and political dynamics unique to the region. Thus,

these findings would not be generalizable for other regions. Similarly, because participants self-select to participate in the study, there could be unique characteristics of such individuals that influence results. For example, someone who willingly participates in a study about Facebook use and invisible minority experience, might have a more positive perspective about identifying as an invisible minority and using Facebook than other individuals. Therefore, the results of this study may not be generalizable for all Facebook users who identify as one or more of the invisible minority identities included in this study.

### **Practice Implications**

The chief finding in this study is that invisible minority engagement with initiating and information-seeking behavior on Facebook with similar others relates to Facebook bridging social capital. Facebook bridging social capital refers to the support achieved though distant and infrequent connections to others that often provide informational support, advice, or perspective (Granovetter, 1973; Kraut et al., 1998). Although bridging social capital was not related to level of social support or satisfaction with social support in this study, bridging social capital is important because it allows people to successfully access support in the form of information, resources, and advice. The finding that connection with similar others on Facebook relates to bridging social capital suggests that invisible minority individuals are likely to benefit the most from using Facebook with similar others when they are engaging in initiating or informationseeking behavior with them. These behaviors include meeting new people or learning more about acquaintances by browsing their profiles, contacting them using Facebook, adding them as a Facebook Friend, or cautiously and thoughtfully meeting them face-to-face (Ellison et al., 2007). Cohen and Wills (1985) found that informational support, specifically, is most likely to show buffering effects in alleviating stress. Buffering effects assuage stress by intervening between a

taxing event and the stress reaction by preventing a negative stress appraisal response.

(Lewandowski, Rosenberg, Parks, & Siegel, 2011). Therefore, for invisible minorities, engaging in initiating and information-seeking behavior with the pursuit of obtaining new information, advice, or resources, could be especially helpful after a stressful event.

These findings underscore the importance of type of behavior on Facebook in determining potential benefits of use. Specifically, it appears to be the most fruitful for invisible minorities to use Facebook to establish new relationships or learn more about acquaintances, rather than develop further connection with existing close friends. It could be that gaining more intimate support from close friends is best achieved offline. In addition, the lack of relationship between measures of Facebook use and social support variables (both level of and satisfaction with) indicates that Facebook may not be the most efficient way for an individual to increase their experience of or satisfaction with social support. Therefore, it is recommended to educators, program administrators, psychotherapists, and invisible minorities themselves who wish to enhance the support systems available to invisible minority individuals, to advocate for using Facebook to gain perspective, normalize an experience, or access informational support or advice. However, for more personal and intimate support, such as bonding social capital, inperson mentorship, support groups, or time with supportive family or close friends might be more conducive for achieving this type of support.

Although the scale utilized to measure social capital has a focus on Facebook as the source of the social capital (or "online" in the original Williams (2006) version), the items in the bridging social capital subscale suggest both an increased connection to the internal Facebook world, as well as an increased sense of connection outward to community beyond Facebook. Items that demonstrate this more internal connection are ones like item (8), "I am willing to

spend time to support general Facebook community activities" or item (9), "Interacting with people on Facebook gives me new people to talk to." And items that focus on increased connection outward are items such as item (1), "Interacting with people on Facebook makes me interested in things that happen outside of my town" or item (5), "Interacting with people on Facebook makes me feel like part of a larger community." The inclusion of both inwardly-Facebook oriented items as well as the outwardly beyond-Facebook-oriented items that comprise the Facebook bridging capital scale support the notion that this form of social capital is illustrative of a more global measure of one's connection to a community beyond online life. Therefore, the finding that increased engagement in initiating or information-seeking behavior on Facebook with similar others relates to increased Facebook bridging social capital suggests that using Facebook in a specific way might predict overall increases in social connectedness.

Given these findings, when used in a certain way, Facebook can indeed be considered a "counterspace" in line with Case and Hunter's (2012) definition of the term: "settings, which promote positive self-concepts among marginalized individuals [e.g., racial and sexual minority individuals, persons with disabilities, etc.] through the challenging of deficit-oriented dominant cultural narratives and representations concerning these individuals" (Case & Hunter, 2012, p. 261). The social benefits associated with invisible minorities' use of Facebook to initiate connection or seek information with similar others suggests that there could be benefits to one's self concept as their bridging social capital increases. Additionally, receiving or providing similar others with support, mentoring, and advice, challenges the deficit-oriented dominant cultural narrative that one's invisible minority status makes a person inept, inadequate, or undesirable to others.

### **Implications for Future Research**

This study explored the relationship between invisible minority use of Facebook to connect with similar others and satisfaction with social support as well as types of behavior on Facebook and bridging and bonding social capital. While this study contributed to our understanding of areas of two budding topics, online social networking and invisible minority experience, there is still a great deal to investigate in these areas. A qualitative study exploring the strategies invisible minorities use to find similar others would provide a deeper understanding of the ways these groups access social support on and offline and how supported they feel by these efforts. This would also provide insight on how invisible minorities understand this social support is helping them to feel more supported or adept at navigating life as a member of a stigmatized minority group.

For developing practice implications, it would be helpful to study the implications of various Facebook behavior in a more comprehensive way. Previous study findings indicate that type of Facebook use matters in predicting bridging or bonding social capital (Ellison et al., 2011) and in this study, only bridging social capitol was found to be predicted by certain behaviors on Facebook. As Facebook continues to grow in use and complexity in terms of its interface, so do options for engagement. Future studies might look at the differences and implications amongst a variety of behaviors beyond simply initiating, information-seeking, and maintaining such as direct messaging, posting in specific groups or page, "liking" others' posts, posting pictures or graphics, or creating an event and inviting friends. Additionally, future studies could also examine the implications of using a variety of social networking sites beyond Facebook that allow for even more types of connection.

This study did not look at the difference between various invisible minority identity

experiences. Given what we know about the differing degrees of stigmatization posed to various invisible minority statuses, future studies would benefit from looking at between group differences amongst invisible minority identities in accessing support on social networking sites. It could be that certain invisible minority identities, such as sexual or religious minorities, benefit more from social engagement online than other invisible minority identities. As an example, some religious minorities may have access to others who are similar through places where they practice religious activities and others who do not practice religious activities may not have access to that benefit. Additionally, it seems that some invisible minority statuses included in the study might feel more attacked or targeted than others such as sexual minorities compared to people with chronic illness. It would be helpful to study how the perception that one's minority status is targeted by dominant society might change the experience of an individual's pursuit of support. Furthermore, people with visible minority identities who also have one or more invisible minority identities likely face unique challenges and experiences in accessing satisfactory social support. For example, non-heterosexual identified people of color who cannot pass as white or who have physical disabilities might have an especially challenging time accessing adequate support as they navigate discrimination due to racism or ableism triggered by visual cues while also facing heterosexism based on their decision to disclose. Thus, it would be beneficial to further investigate the research questions posed in this study for individuals who identify as possessing both an invisible and visible minority status.

Finally, it is critical that future research prioritizes exploration of the experiences and needs of people with invisible minority identities. These experiences are largely understudied compared to the experiences of people with visible minority identities (Quinn & Chaudoir, 2009). In addition to further studies investigating invisible minority experiences accessing social

support online, it would also be useful to study the needs and experiences of invisible minority individuals in a number of other realms including education, work, romantic relationships, and healthcare.

#### References

- Allport, G.W. (1954). The nature of prejudice. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Archer, R. L. (1987). Commentary: Self-disclosure, a very useful behavior. In V.L. Derlega & J.H. Berg (Eds.), *Self-disclosure: Theory, research, and therapy* (pp. 329-342). New York: Plenum.
- Back, M. D., Stopfer, J. M., Vazire, S., Gaddis, S., Schmukle, S. C., Egloff, B., & Gosling, S. D. (2010). Facebook profiles reflect actual personality, not self-idealization. *Psychological Science*, 21, 372-374. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.simine.com/docs/Back\_et\_al\_PSYCHSCIENCE\_2010.pdf">http://www.simine.com/docs/Back\_et\_al\_PSYCHSCIENCE\_2010.pdf</a>
- Bargh, J. A., McKenna, K. Y., & Fitzsimons, G. M. (2002). Can you see the real me? Activation and expression of the "true self" on the Internet. *Journal of Social Issues*, *58*, 33-48. doi:10.1111/j.1083-6101.2007.00367.x
- Barrera, M., Jr. (1981). Social support in the adjustment of pregnant adolescents: Assessment issues. In B.H. Gottlieb (Ed.), *Social networks and social support* (pp. 69-96). Beverly Hills: Sage.
- Barrera, M., Jr., & Baca, L.M. (1990). Recipient reactions to social support: Contributions of enacted support, conflicted support and network orientation. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 7, 541-551. doi:10.1177/0265407590074010
- Barrera, M., Jr., Sandler, I.N., & Ramsay, T.B (1981). Preliminary development of a scale of social support: Studies on college students. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 9, 435-447. doi:10.1007/BF00918174

- Beane, D. A. (2012). *A tale of self-monitoring, social capital, and social media*. (Unpublished master's thesis). University of North Florida, Jacksonville, FL.
- Beatty, J. E., & Kirby, S. L. (2006). Beyond the legal environment: How stigma influences invisible identity groups in the workplace. *Employee Responsibilities and Rights Journal*, 18, 29-44. doi:10.1007/s10672-005-9003-6
- Berkman, L. F. (2001). Social ties and mental health. *Journal of Urban Health*, 78, 458-467. doi:10.1093/jurban/78.3.458
- Bessiere, K., Kiesler, S., Kraut, R., & Boneva, B. S. (2008). Effects of internet use and social resources on changes in depression. *Information, Community & Society*, 11, 47-70. doi:10.1080/13691180701858851
- Bourdieu, P. (1985). The social space and the genesis of groups. *Theory and Society*, *14*, 723-744. doi:10.1007/BF00174048
- Bourdieu, P., & Wacquant, L. J. D. (1992). *An invitation to reflexive sociology*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Burke, M., Kraut, R., & Marlow, C. (2011, May). Social capital on Facebook: Differentiating uses and users. *Proceedings of the 2011 Annual Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York: ACM. doi:10.1145/1753326.1753613
- Case, A. D., & Hunter, C. D. (2012). Counterspaces: A unit of analysis for understanding the role of settings in marginalized individuals' adaptive responses to oppression. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 50, 257-270. doi:10.1007/s10464-012-9497-7
- Clayton, R. B., Osborne, R. E., Miller, B. K., & Oberle, C. D. (2013). Loneliness, anxiousness, and substance use as predictors of Facebook use. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29, 687-693. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2012.12.002

- Cohen, S., & McKay, G. (1984). Social support, stress and the buffering hypothesis: A theoretical analysis. In A. Baum, S.E. Taylor, & J.E. Singer (Eds.), *Handbook of psychology and health* (pp.253-267). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Cohen, J., & Streuning, E. L. (1962). Opinions about mental illness in the personnel of two large mental hospitals. *Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 64, 349–360. doi:10.1037/h0045526
- Cohen, S., & Wills, T. A. (1985). Stress, social support, and the buffering hypothesis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *98*, 310. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.98.2.310
- Comer, R. J., & Piliavin, J. A. (1972). The effects of physical deviance upon face-to-face interaction: The other side. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 23, 33-39. doi:10.1037/h0032922
- Constant, D., Sproull, L., & Kiesler, S. (1996). The kindness of strangers: The usefulness of electronic weak ties for technical advice. *Organization Science*, 7, 119-135. doi:10.1287/orsc.7.2.119
- Correa, T., & Jeong, S. H. (2011). Race and online content creation: Why minorities are actively participating in the Web. *Information, Communication and Society*, *14*, 638-659. doi:10.1080/1369118X.2010.514355
- Corrigan, P. W., & Penn, D. L. (1999). Lessons from social psychology on discrediting psychiatric stigma. *American Psychologist*, *54*, 765-776. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.54.9.765
- Crawford, A. M. (1996). Stigma associated with AIDS: A metaanalysis. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 26, 398-416. doi:10.1111/j.1559-1816.1996.tb01856.x
- Crocker, J., & Major, B. (1989). Social stigma and self-esteem: The self-protective properties of

- stigma. Psychological Review, 96, 608. doi:10.1037/0033-295X.96.4.608
- Crocker, J., Voelkl, K., Testa, M., & Major, B. (1991). Social stigma: The affective consequences of attributional ambiguity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 60, 218-228. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.60.2.218
- Crowson, M., & Goulding, A. (2013). Virtually homosexual: Technoromanticism, demarginalisation and identity formation among homosexual males. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29, A31-A39. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2013.01.017
- DeCecco, J. P. (1984). Ed. Homophobia: An overview. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 10, 1–2.
- DeHaan, S., Kuper, L. E., Magee, J. C., Bigelow, L., & Mustanski, B. S. (2013). The interplay between online and offline explorations of identity, relationships, and sex: a mixed-methods study with LGBT youth. *Journal of Sex Research*, 50, 421-434. doi:10.1080/00224499.2012.661489
- D'Emilio, J. (1983). Sexual politics, sexual communities: The making of a homosexual minority in the United States, 1940–1970. Chicago: University of Chicago.
- Duggan, M., Ellison, B., Lampe, C., Lenhart, A., & Madden, M., (2015, January 9). Social media update. Retrieved from http://www.pewinternet.org/2015/01/09/social-media-update-2014/
- Eaton, W. W., W.W., Smith, C., Ybarra, M., Muntaner, C., Tien, A. (2004). Center for
  Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale: Review and revision (CESD and CESD-R). In
  M.E. Marunish (Ed.). The use of psychological testing for treatment planning and
  outcomes assessment: Vol. 3. Instruments for adults (pp. 363-377). Mahwah, NJ:
  Erlbaum.
- Ellison, N. B., Steinfield, C., & Lampe, C. (2007). The benefits of Facebook "friends:" Social

- capital and college students' use of online social network sites. *Journal of Computer- Mediated Communication*, *12*,1143-1168. doi:10.1111/j.1083-6101.2007.00367.x
- Ellison, N. B., Steinfield, C., & Lampe, C. (2011). Connection strategies: social capital implications of Facebook-enabled communication practices. *New Media & Society*, *13*, 873-892. doi:10.1177/1461444810385389
- Ellsworth, R. B. (1965). A behavioral study of staff attitudes toward mental illness. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 70, 194–200. doi:10.1037/h0022132
- Farina, A., Gliha, D., Bourdreau, L. A., Ale, J. G., & Sherman, M. (1971). Mental illness and the impact of believing others know about it. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 77, 1-5. doi:10.1037/h0030496
- Fisher, A. P. (2003). Still" not quite as good as having your own"? Toward a sociology of adoption. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 29, 335-361.

  doi:10.1146/annurev.soc.29.010202.100209
- Forest, A. L., & Wood, J. V. (2012). When social networking is not working individuals with low self-esteem recognize but do not reap the benefits of self-disclosure on Facebook.

  \*Psychological Science\*, 23, 295-302. doi:10.1177/0956797611429709
- Frable, D. E. S., Platt, L., & Hoey, S. (1998). Concealable stigmas and positive self-perceptions: Feeling better around similar others. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 74, 909-922. doi:10.1177/1461444810385389
- Fresco, D. M., Mennin, D. S., Heimberg, R. G., & Turk, C. L. (2003). Using the Penn State

  Worry Questionnaire to identify individuals with generalized anxiety disorder: a receiver operating characteristic analysis. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental*Psychiatry, 34, 283-291. doi:10.1016/j.jbtep.2003.09.001

- Goffman, E. (1963). *Stigma: Notes on the management of spoiled identity*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Gold J., Pedrana, A.E., Sacks-Davis, R., Hellard, M.E., Chang, S., Howard, S., Keogh, L., Hocking, J.S., Stoove, M.A. (2011). A systematic examination of the use of online social networking sites for sexual health promotion. *BMC Public Health*, 1, 6-8. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-11-583
- Goldfried, M. R. (2001). Integrating gay, lesbian, and bisexual issues into mainstream psychology. *American Psychologist*, *56*, 977. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.56.11.977
- Goodman, K. M., & Mueller, J. A. (2009). Invisible, marginalized, and stigmatized:

  Understanding and addressing the needs of atheist students. *New Directions for Student Services*, 125, 55-63. doi:10.1002/ss.308
- Gove, W. R., & Geerken, M. R. (1977). The effect of children and employment on the mental health of married men and women. *Social Forces*, *56*, 66-76. doi:10.1093/sf/56.1.66
- Granovetter, M. S. (1973). The strength of weak ties. *American Journal of Sociology*, 78, 1360-1380. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/i328994
- Grieve, R., Indian, M., Witteveen, K., Tolan, G. A., & Marrington, J. (2013). Face-to-face or Facebook: Can social connectedness be derived online? *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29, 604-609. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2012.11.017
- Hann, D., Winter, K., & Jacobsen, P. (1999). Measurement of depressive symptoms in cancer patients. Evaluation of the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CES-D). *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 46, 437-443.
  doi:10.1016/S0022-3999(99)00004-5
- Heitzmann, C. A., & Kaplan, R. M. (1988). Assessment of methods for measuring social

- support. *Health Psychology*, 7, 75-109. doi:10.1037/0278-6133.7.1.75
- Herbert, T. B., & Dunkel-Schetter, C. (1992). Negative social reactions to victims: An overview of responses and their determinants. In L. Montada, S. H. Filipp, & M. J. Lerner (Eds.), *Life crises and experiences of loss in adulthood* (pp. 497-518). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Herek, J. M. (1996). Why tell if you're not asked? Self-disclosure, intergroup contact, and heterosexuals' attitudes toward lesbians and gay men. In G. M. Herek, J. Jobe, & R.
  Carney (Eds.), Out in force: Sexual orientation and the military (pp. 197-225). Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Hershberger, S. L., & D'Augelli, A. R. (1995). The impact of victimization on the mental health and suicidality of lesbian, gay, and bisexual youths. *Developmental Psychology*, *31*, 65-74. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.31.1.65
- House, J. S., Kahn, R. L., McLeod, J. D., & Williams, D. (1985). Measures and concepts of social support. In S. Cohen & S.L. Syme (Eds.), *Social support and health* (pp. 83-108).Orlando, FL: Academic Press.
- Itzkovitz, D. 2001. Passing like me: Jewish chameleonism and the politics of race. In *Passing: Identity and interpretation in sexuality, race, and religion*, ed. MC Sánchez, L

  Schlossberg, pp. 38–63. New York: N.Y. University Press.
- Jetten, J., Branscombe, N. R., Schmitt, M. T., & Spears, R. (2001). Rebels with a cause: Group identification as a response to perceived discrimination from the mainstream. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 27, 1204-1213. doi:10.1177/0146167201279012
- Joinson, A. N. (2008). Looking at, looking up or keeping up with people?: Motives and use of Facebook. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (pp. 1027-1036). New York, NY: ACM.

- Jones, E. E., Farina, A., Hastorf, A. H., Markus, H., Miller, D. T., & Scott, R (1984). *Social stigma: The psychology of marked relationships*. New York: Freeman.
- Junco, R. (2012). The relationship between frequency of Facebook use, participation in Facebook activities, and student engagement. *Computers & Education*, 58, 162-171. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2011.08.004
- Junco, R. (2013). Comparing actual and self-reported measures of Facebook use. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29, 626-631. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2012.11.007
- Kim, H. Y. (2013). Statistical notes for clinical researchers: Assessing normal distribution (2) using skewness and kurtosis. *Restorative Dentistry & Endodontics*, *38*, 52-54. doi:10.5395/rde.2013.38.1.52
- Kim, J., LaRose, R., & Peng, W. (2009). Loneliness as the cause and the effect of problematic internet use: The relationship between internet use and psychological well-being.CyberPsychology & Behavior, 12, 451-455. doi:10.1089/cpb.2008.0327
- Kraut, R., Kiesler, S., Boneva, B., Cummings, J., Helgeson, V., & Crawford, A. (2002). Internet paradox revisited. *Journal of Social Issues*, 58, 49-74. doi:10.1111/1540-4560.00248
- Kraut, R., Patterson, M., Lundmark, V., Kiesler, S., Mukophadhyay, T., & Scherlis, W. (1998).

  Internet paradox: A social technology that reduces social involvement and psychological well-being? *American Psychologist*, *53*, 1017-1031. doi:10.1307/0003-066X.53.9.1017
- Kross, E., Verduyn, P., Demiralp, E., Park, J., Lee, D. S., Lin, N., & Ybarra, O. (2013).

  Facebook use predicts declines in subjective well-being in young adults. *PLOS One*, 8, 1-6. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0069841
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. New York: Springer.
- Lee, E. B. (2012). Young, black, and connected Facebook usage among African American

- college students. Journal of Black Studies, 43, 336-354. doi:10.1177/0021934711425044
- Levitt E. & Klassen A.D. (1974) Public attitudes toward homosexuality. Part of the 1970 national survey by the Institute for sex research. *Journal of Homosexuality, 1,* 20-43.

  Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=11756352&site=ehost-live
- Lopez, M. L., & Cooper, L. (2011). Social support measures review. *National center for Latino*child & family research. Retrieved from

  http://www.first5la.org/files/SSMS\_LopezCooper\_LiteratureReviewandTable\_02212011.

  pdf
- Major, B., & Gramzow, R. H. (1999). Abortion as stigma: Cognitive and emotional implications of concealment. *Journal of Personality And Social Psychology*, 77, 735-745.
  doi:10.1037/0022-3514.77.4.735
- March, K. (1995). Perception of adoption as social stigma: Motivation for search and reunion.

  \*Journal of Marriage and the Family, 57, 653-660. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/353920
- McKenna, K. Y., & Bargh, J. A. (1998). Coming out in the age of the internet: Identity "demarginalization" through virtual group participation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 75, 681-694. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.75.3.681
- McKenna, K. Y., Green, A. S., & Gleason, M. E. (2002). Relationship formation on the internet:

  What's the big attraction? *Journal of Social Issues*, 58, 9-31. Retrieved from

  http://www.nslg.net/class/Relationship%20Formation.pdf
- McLaughlin, M. E., Bell, M. P., & Stringer, D. Y. (2004). Stigma and acceptance of coworkers

- with disabilities: Understudied aspects of workforce diversity. *Group & Organization Management*, 29, 302–333. doi:10.1177/1059601103257410
- Meidlinger, P. C., & Hope, D. A. (2014). Differentiating disclosure and concealment in measurement of outness for sexual minorities: The Nebraska outness scale. *Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity*, 1, 489-497. doi:10.1037/sgd0000080
- Meyer, I. H. (2003). Prejudice, social stress, and mental health in lesbian, gay, and bisexual populations: Conceptual issues and research evidence. *Psychological Bulletin*, 129, 674-697. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.129.5.674
- Meyer, I. H. (2007). Prejudice and discrimination as social stressors. In I. H Meyer & M. E.

  Northridge (Eds.), *The health of sexual minorities: Public health perspectives on lesbian,*gay, bisexual and transgender populations (pp. 242-267). New York: Springer.
- Meyer, T. J., Miller, M. L., Metzger, R. L., & Borkovec, T. D. (1990). Development and validation of the penn state worry questionnaire. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 28, 487-495. doi:10.1016/0005-7967(90)90135-6
- Mohr, J. J., & Fassinger, R. E. (2003). Self-acceptance and self-disclosure of sexual orientation in lesbian, gay, and bisexual adults: An attachment perspective. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 50, 482–495. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.50.4.482
- Morahan-Martin, J., & Schumacher, P. (2003). Loneliness and social uses of the internet.

  Computers in Human Behavior, 19, 659-671. doi:10.1016/S0747-5632(03)00040-2
- Moreno, M. A., Jelenchick, L. A., Egan, K. G., Cox, E., Young, H., Gannon, K. E., & Becker, T. (2011). Feeling bad on Facebook: Depression disclosures by college students on a social networking site. *Depression and Anxiety*, 28, 447-455. doi:10.1002/da.20805
- Mustanski, B., Lyons, T., & Garcia, S. C. (2011). Internet use and sexual health of young men

- who have sex with men: A mixed-methods study. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 40, 289-300. doi:10.1007/s10508-009-9596-1
- Nunnally Jr, J. C. (1961). *Popular conceptions of mental health: Their development and change*.

  Oxford, England: Holt, Rinehart, & Wilson.
- Pachankis, J. E. (2007). The psychological implications of concealing a stigma: A cognitive-affective-behavioral model. *Psychological Bulletin*, *133*, 328-345. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.133.2.328
- Pauker, K., Weisbuch, M., Ambady, N., Sommers, S. R., Adams, R. J., & Ivcevic, Z. (2009). Not so black and white: Memory for ambiguous group members. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *96*, 795-810. doi:10.1037/a0013265
- Peterson, J. L., Folkman, S., & Bakeman, R. (1996). Stress, coping, HIV status, psychosocial resources, and depressive mood in African American gay, bisexual, and heterosexual men. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 24, 461-487. doi:10.1007/BF02506793
- Putnam, R. D. (2000). *Bowling alone: The collapse and revival of American community*. New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Quinn, D. M., & Chaudoir, S. R. (2009). Living with a concealable stigmatized identity: the impact of anticipated stigma, centrality, salience, and cultural stigma on psychological distress and health. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 97, 634. doi:10.1037/a0015815
- Radloff, L.S. (1977). The CES-D scale: A self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Applied Psychological Measurement*, 1, 385-401. doi:10.1177/014662167700100306

- Ragins, B. R. (2008). Disclosure disconnects: Antecedents and consequences of disclosing invisible stigmas across life domains. *Academy of Management Review*, *33*, 194-215. doi:10.5465/AMR.2008.27752724
- Robins, R. W., Hendin, H. M., & Trzesniewski, K. H. (2001). Measuring global self-esteem:

  Construct validation of a single-item measure and the Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale.

  Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 27, 151-161.

  doi:10.1177/0146167201272002
- Roe, S. L. (2015). Examining the role of peer relationships in the lives of gay and bisexual adolescents. *Journal of the National Association of Social Workers*, *37*, 117-124. doi:10.1093/cs/cdv001
- Rosario, M., Schrimshaw, E. W., & Hunter, J. (2004). Predictors of substance use over time among gay, lesbian, and bisexual youths: An examination of three hypotheses. *Addictive behaviors*, 29, 1623-1631. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2004.02.032
- Ross, C., Orr, E. S., Sisic, M., Arseneault, J. M., Simmering, M. G., & Orr, R. R. (2009).

  Personality and motivations associated with Facebook use. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 25, 578–586. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2008.12.024
- Saleh, F., Jani, H., Marzouqi, M., Khajeh, N., & Rajan, A. (2011, October). *Social networking by the youth in the UAE: A privacy paradox*. Paper presented at the 2011 International Conference and Workshop on Current Trends in Information Technology, Dubai, United Arab Emirates.
- Sarason, I. G., Levine, H. M., Basham, R. B., & Sarason, B. R. (1983). Assessing social support: the social support questionnaire. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 44, 127. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.44.1.127

- Scambler, G., & Hopkins, A. (1986). Being epileptic: coming to terms with stigma. *Sociology of Health & Illness*, 8, 26-43. doi:10.1111/1467-9566.ep11346455
- Sevinc, N. (2010). *In/visibility of identities and identity politics: The case of invisible disabilities* (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). University of British Columbia: Vancouver.
- Shaw, L. H., & Gant, L. M. (2002). In defense of the internet: The relationship between internet communication and depression, loneliness, self-esteem, and perceived social support.

  CyberPsychology & Behavior, 5, 157-171. doi:10.1089/109493102753770552
- Sheldon, P. (2008). The relationship between unwillingness-to-communicate and students'

  Facebook use. *Journal of Media Psychology: Theories, Methods, and Applications*, 20, 67-75. doi:10.1089/109493102753770552
- Sheldon, K. M., Abad, N., & Hinsch, C. (2011). A two-process view of Facebook use and relatedness need-satisfaction: disconnection drives use, and connection rewards it.

  \*Psychology of Popular Media Culture, 1, 2-15. doi:10.1037/2160-4134.1.S.2
- Shen, C., & Williams, D. (2011). Unpacking time online: Connecting internet and massively multiplayer online game use with psychosocial well-being. *Communication Research*, *38*, 123-149. doi:10.1177/0093650210377196
- Smart, L., & Wegner, D. M. (1999). Covering up what can't be seen: Concealable stigma and mental control. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 77, 474-486. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.77.3.474
- Smart, L., & Wegner, D. M. (2000). The hidden costs of stigma. In T. F.Heatherton, R. E.Kleck,M. R. Hebl, & J. G. Hull (Eds.), *The social psychology of stigma* (pp. 220–242). New York: Guilford Press.
- Somer, E., & Szwarcberg, S. (2001). Variables in delayed disclosure of childhood sexual abuse.

- American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 71, 332-341. doi:10.1037/0002-9432.71.3.332
- Steinfield, C., Ellison, N. B., & Lampe, C. (2008). Social capital, self-esteem, and use of online social network sites: A longitudinal analysis. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 29, 434-445. doi:10.1016/j.appdev.2008.07.002
- Stone, D. L., & Colella, A. (1996). A model of factors affecting the treatment of disabled individuals in organizations. *Academy of Management Review*, 21, 352-401. doi:10.5465/AMR.1996.9605060216
- Sullivan, H. S. (1953). *The interpersonal theory of psychiatry* (H.S. Perry & M.C. Gawel, Eds.)

  New York: Norton.
- Susman, J. (1994). Disability, stigma and deviance. *Social Science & Medicine*, *38*,15-22. doi:10.1016/0277-9536(94)90295-X
- Tandoc, E. C., Ferrucci, P., & Duffy, M. (2015). Facebook use, envy, and depression among college students: Is Facebooking depressing? *Computers in Human Behavior*, *43*, 139-146. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2014.10.053
- Thoits, P. A. (2011). Mechanisms linking social ties and support to physical and mental health. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 52, 145-161. doi:10.1177/0022146510395592
- Trepte, S., & Reinecke, L. (2013). The reciprocal effects of social network site use and the disposition for self-disclosure: A longitudinal study. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2012.10.002
- Turkle, S. (1995). *Life on the screen: Identity in the age of the internet*. New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Uchino, B. N. (2013). Understanding the links between social ties and health on building stronger bridges with relationship science. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*,

- 30, 155-162. doi:10.1177/0265407512458659
- Umberson, D., & Montez, J. K. (2010). Social relationships and health: A flashpoint for health policy. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, *51*, S54-S66.

  doi:10.1177/0022146510383501
- Valkenburg, P.M. & Peter, J. (2007). Online communication and adolescent well-being: Testing the stimulation versus the displacement hypothesis. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 12, 1169-1182. doi:10.1111/j.1083-6101.2007.00368.x
- Valkenburg, P.M., Schouten, A.P., & Peter, J. (2005). Adolescents' identity experiments on the internet. *New Media & Society*, 7, 383–402. doi:10.1177/1461444805052282
- van Rijsoort, S., Emmelkamp, P., & Vervaeke, G. (1999). The Penn state worry questionnaire and the worry domains questionnaire: Structure, reliability and validity. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 6, 297-307.

  doi:10.1002/(SICI)1099-0879(199910)6:4<297::AID-CPP206>3.0.CO;2-E
- Vickers, M. H. (2012). Antenarratives to Inform Health Care Research: Exploring Workplace

  Illness Disclosure for People with Multiple Sclerosis (MS). *Journal of Health and Human Services Administration*, *35*, 170-206. Retrieved from

  http://www.jstor.org/stable/41709982
- Walen, H. R., & Lachman, M. E. (2000). Social support and strain from partner, family, and friends: Costs and benefits for men and women in adulthood. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 17, 5-30. doi:10.1177/0265407500171001
- Webbick, P. (1981). Nonverbal behavior and lesbian/gay orientation. In C. Mayo & N. Henley (Eds.), *Gender and nonverbal behavior* (pp. 253-260). New York: Springer-Verlag. Weidner, G. (1983). Rape: A sexual stigma. *Journal of Personality*, *51*, 152-166.

- Wellman, B., & Wortley, S. (1990). Different strokes from different folks: Community ties and social support. *American Journal of Sociology*, *96*, 558-588. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.jstor.org/stable/2781064">http://www.jstor.org/stable/2781064</a>
- Whiteford, L. M., & Gonzalez, L. (1995). Stigma: the hidden burden of infertility. *Social Science & medicine*, 40, 27-36. doi:10.1016/0277-9536(94)00124-C
- Williams, D. (2006). On and off the 'net: Scales for social capital in an online era. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 11, 593-628. doi:10.1111/j.1083 6101.2006.00092.x
- Wilson, R. E., Gosling, S. D., & Graham, L. T. (2012). A review of Facebook research in the social sciences. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 7, 203-220. doi:10.1177/1745691612442904
- Woods, S. E., & Harbeck, K. M. (1992). Living in two worlds: The identity management strategies used by lesbian physical educators. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 22, 141-166. doi: 10.1300/J082v22n03\_06
- Youn, S. J., Trinh, N. H., Shyu, I., Chang, T., Fava, M., Kvedar, J., & Yeung, A. (2013). Using online social media, Facebook, in screening for major depressive disorder among college students. *International Journal of Clinical and Health Psychology*, *13*, 74-80. doi:10.1016/S1697-2600(13)70010-3
- Zimet, G.D., Dahlem, N.W., Zimet, S.G. & Farley, G. K. (1988). The multidimensional scale of perceived social support. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 52, 30-41. doi:10.1207/s15327752jpa5201\_2
- Zywica, J. and Danowski, J. (2008), The faces of Facebookers: Investigating social enhancement and social compensation hypotheses; predicting Facebook<sup>TM</sup> and offline popularity from

sociability and Self-Esteem, and mapping the meanings of popularity with semantic networks. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, *14*, 1–34. doi:10.1111/j.1083-6101.2008.01429.x

## Appendix A

#### Information Letter to Enable Informed Consent

You are invited to participate in a research study because you are at least 19 years old, use Facebook, and identify as a person from a group whose minority status is invisible to others. The purpose of this study is to better understand the ways people who are members of these groups use Facebook and how this influences their life and relationships. The study is being conducted by Emily Kerzin, a doctoral student in the Auburn University Department of Special Education, Rehabilitation and Counseling, under the supervision of Annette Kluck, Ph.D., Associate Professor and Training Director in the Auburn University Department of Special Education, Rehabilitation and Counseling.

Your participation in this study is voluntary and you are free to discontinue your participation at any point without penalty. If you decide to participate in this study, you will be asked a series of questions about your behavior, thoughts, and feelings. Some questions may seem similar, but each question is important and it is crucial that your answer each honestly and thoughtfully. There are no correct or incorrect ways to answer a question. If you have difficulty answering a question, select which answer feels the most true to you. The entire study should take approximately 15-20 minutes to complete.

There are minimal risks involved in participation in this study. You may experience slight discomfort while answering personal questions that are sensitive in nature. There are some potential benefits in participating in this study including increased self-awareness, contribution to scientific understanding of an understudied group of people, and an opportunity to take part in a raffle to win one of four \$25 Amazon gift cards. If you would like to be involved in the raffle you must provide an email address at the end of the survey so you can be contacted and provided the gift card electronically should you win. Your email and contact information will not be linked responses provided in the survey.

All data obtained from this study will remain anonymous and you will not be asked to provide your name or any other identifying information (the information for the drawing will be collected in a separate survey so that your email address cannot be linked with your responses). Results and implications from this study will be presented and discussed as a whole, rather than presented in terms of unique responses tied to any identifying information.

If you have any questions about this study, please contact the principle investigator, Emily Kerzin, at <a href="ebk0002@auburn.edu">ebk0002@auburn.edu</a>. If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant, please contact the Auburn University Office of Human Subjects Research or the Institutional Review Board at <a href="https://hsuburn.edu">hsubjec@auburn.edu</a> or IRBChair@auburn.edu or by phone at (334)- 844-5966.

Thank you for your time and participation with this research. By clicking the link below, you acknowledge that you have read this information and give your consent to participate in this study. Please remember that you may discontinue the study at any point without penalty.

# Appendix B

## Facebook Post

This text was posted on primary investigator's Facebook wall:

"Are you at least 19 years old, use Facebook, and identify as a member of a group whose minority status is invisible to others (e.g. LGBTQ, chronic disease, infertility, religious minority, lower SES background, etc.)? If so, you are invited to participate in a research study exploring Facebook use among individuals with invisible minority identity(s) and have a chance to win one of four \$25 Amazon e gift cards. This study is being conducted by Emily Kerzin, a doctoral student at Auburn University. Regardless of whether you qualify or participate, please repost this on your own Facebook page. Thank you very much for your time and participation."

# Appendix C

## Demographic Form

- 1. Please select all groups with which you identify from the following:
  - Non-dominant religious beliefs (as defined by those that fall outside of Christian affiliated religions or sects including atheists and agnostics)
  - Possessing a chronic illness or condition such as epilepsy and HIV/AIDS
  - Possessing an invisible disability
  - Having a mental illness
  - Infertile
  - Lesbian
  - Gay
  - Bisexual
  - Queer
  - Asexual
  - Non-heterosexual identified
  - Transgender
  - Gender-nonconforming/genderqueer
  - Lower socioeconomic background/ working poor
  - Person of color who can pass as white
- 2. Is your identity as a member of this group mostly visible or invisible to others?

Mostly	Mostly
visible	invisible

- 3. What is your gender identity?
  - A. Woman
  - B. Man
  - C. Trans woman (M-F)
  - D. Trans man (F-M)
  - E. Bigender
  - F. Gender-nonconforming/genderqueer
  - G. Other
- 4. What is your racial or ethnic identification?
  - A. American Indian or Native American
  - B. Asian, Asian American, or Pacific Islander
  - C. Black or African American
  - D. White (non-Hispanic or Latino)
  - E. Hispanic or Latino
  - F. Multiracial
  - G. Other
- 5. Which of the following best describes your sexual orientation?
  - A. Heterosexual or straight

- B. Lesbian
- C. Gay
- D. Bisexual
- E. Queer
- F. Asexual
- G. Pansexual
- H. Questioning or unsure
- I. Other
- 6. What is your age \_\_\_\_\_
- 7. Partner status
  - A. Single-no partner
  - B. One dating partner
  - C. More than one dating partner
  - D. Married or long term partner
  - E. More than one long term partner
  - F. Divorced
  - G. Widowed
  - H. Other
- 8. Highest level of education
  - A. Less than high school diploma
  - B. High school diploma
  - C. Associate's degree
  - D. Some college
  - E. Bachelor's degree
  - F. Post Bachelor's degree
  - G. Graduate/Professional degree